Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Helen Belinda Chin

Date

Disparities in Seeking and Receiving Fertility Counseling and Treatment

By

Helen Belinda Chin Doctor of Philosophy

Epidemiology

Penelope P. Howards, PhD Advisor

Michael R. Kramer, PhD Committee Member

Ann C. Mertens, PhD Committee Member

Jessica B. Spencer, MD Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Disparities in Seeking and Receiving Fertility Counseling and Treatment

By

Helen Belinda Chin M.P.H., University of South Florida, 2007 B.S., University of South Florida, 2004

Advisor: Penelope P. Howards, PhD

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology 2015

Abstract

Disparities in Seeking and Receiving Fertility Counseling and Treatment

By Helen Belinda Chin

In the United States an estimated 6 million women have impaired fecundity. The inability to have a baby affects the quality of life of women who desire children. Further, infertility is a disease of the reproductive system. Fertility counseling, preservation, and treatment can help some women who cannot conceive naturally to have a child; however, there is sometimes disparate access to this type of care. This dissertation examined disparities in seeking and receiving fertility counseling and treatment among participants of the FUCHSIA Women's Study, a population-based cohort study of reproductive-age women.

In study one, we assessed the persistence of a black white racial disparity after accounting for intermediate variables of the association between race and seeking medical help for becoming pregnant. Compared with white women, black women were less likely to visit a doctor for fertility care, even though they were also less likely to have a child at the time of the study interview.

Study two examined geographic differences in visiting a doctor for help becoming pregnant. To compare the results from the FUCHSIA Women's Study with a national sample, this association was also assessed among participants of the National Survey for Family Growth (NSFG). Among women who reported infertility, living in a suburban or small metropolitan county was associated with a greater likelihood of accessing fertility care compared with living in an urbanized or small town/rural county in both the FUCHSIA Women's Study and NSFG.

Despite universal recommendations to inform reproductive-age women diagnosed with cancer about how cancer treatment could affect fertility, many women do not receive this information. Study three identified factors associated with not receiving fertility counseling at the time of cancer diagnosis. Overall, 41% of women reported receiving no information on how cancer treatment could affect their ability to become pregnant. Less educated women or women with children were less likely to receive counseling compared with nulliparous or more educated women.

Collectively, these studies demonstrate disparities in the receipt of fertility counseling and care among certain groups of women. Improving access to fertility care among these groups, may help more women meet their reproductive goals.

Disparities in Seeking and Receiving Fertility Counseling and Treatment

By

Helen Belinda Chin M.P.H., University of South Florida, 2007 B.S., University of South Florida, 2004

Advisor: Penelope P. Howards, PhD

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology 2015

Acknowledgements

Thank you to the best, most supportive committee in the world. Thank you, Michael Kramer, for being a knowledgeable and kind mentor and providing guidance, insight, and support related to the dissertation and life; thank you, Ann Mertens, for encouraging me, giving me career advice, and offering to tell me jokes the day before my defense to help me stay calm; and thank you, Jessica Spencer, for patiently explaining clinical concepts to me and reminding me why this work matters to clinicians and patients. To my dissertation chair, Penny Howards, thank you for being a generous mentor, for giving me countless hours of your time to help me develop as an epidemiologist, for always having an open door policy regardless of the many other demands on your time, making me feel like my ideas were important, helping me be comfortable with myself, and introducing me to FUCHSIA the beginning of a great dissertation, research and learning experience.

Thank you to the epidemiology department, especially Jena Black, Nicole Regan, and Julie Gazmararian for all of your help with everything and anything related to the program. Thank you to the faculty, especially Carol Hogue for encouraging me throughout my time as a student and for always being enthusiastic and supportive of my ideas and interests.

Thank you to all the students in the epidemiology program – I could not ask for a more caring and uplifting group of peers. A special thank you to Allison Chamberlain Chamberlain, for being the person I could turn to during both the ups and downs of the program, for always being compassionate and encouraging, and celebrating all the big milestones with me. Thank you, Kathleen Hartnett, of Team HelKat, for being half of a

TA with me and my FUCHSIA dissertation partner. Thank you, Jen Richards for your very, very, very long stories, Melanie Jacobson for being my dissertation cheerleader, and Sharoda Dasgupta, my first desk neighbor and friend.

A big thank you to Craft Circle, Jeb Jones and Jessica Knight, for your willingness to spend your lunch hours with me, making paper mache, origami, funny shirts, fluffy sheep, and many more crazy crafts.

Thank you to the FUCHSIA participants, students, volunteers. A special thanks to Jill Woodard, Konny Kim, Regina Simeone, Amy Fothergill, and Monique Farone for all of your help and support.

Thank you, Theresa Sipe, for helping me make the decision to come back to school, meeting with me for coffee regularly, to check on how I was doing, and making sure that I was sticking to my timeline.

I am so grateful to have a loving and supportive family. To my favorite brother, Warren, thank you for your love and encouragement during my time in this program. Thank you for always remembering to call me on Sunday, carrying both sides of the conversation when I was exhausted, and challenging me with your intellectually curious mind. To my favorite sister, Christine, thank you for all of your love and support. Your vibrant spirit lifts me up and even though we are far apart, I could always feel you cheering me on during this long journey. A huge thank you to my parents, Ingrid and Honson, who always made me believe I could do anything I wanted. Thank you, mom, for being my role model; you made me know the importance of gaining knowledge and using it to improve the world around me. And thank you to my father, for inspiring me through his strong work ethic and determination in life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Overview
CHAPTER 2: Background and Literature Review7
CHAPTER 3: Racial Disparities in Seeking Care for Help Getting Pregnant
CHAPTER 4: Differences in Women's Use of Medical Help for Becoming Pregnant by
the Level of Urbanization of County of Residence in Georgia
CHAPTER 5: Assessing Urban-Rural Differences in Women's Use of Medical Help for
Becoming Pregnant Using the National Survey for Family Growth
CHAPTER 6: Characteristics Associated with the Receipt of Fertility Counseling Among
a Cohort of Female Cancer Survivors
CHAPTER 7: Summary of Findings and Future Research 122
References
Funding 153

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1. Demographic and Reproductive Characteristic of Participants in the
FUCHSIA Women's Study by Race
Table 3-2. Proportion of Women in the FUCHSIA Women's Study Reporting Subfertility
and Infertility ^a
Table 3-3. Crude and Adjusted Risk Ratios of the Association Between Race and Visiting
a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant in the FUCHSIA Women's Study
Table 3-4. Crude and Adjusted Hazard Ratios of the Association Between Race and
Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant in the FUCHSIA Women's Study
Table 4-1. Characteristics of Participants by Four Category County Level of Urbanization
Table 4-2. Characteristics for Doctor Visits for Women Seeking Help in Getting Pregnant
by Four Category County Level of Urbanization
Table 4-3. Crude and Adjusted Odds Ratios of the Association between Small
Metropolitan and Non-metropolitan vs. Large Metropolitan County Residence and
Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant
Table 4-4. Crude and Adjusted Odds ratios of the Association Between Four Category
County Level of Urbanization and Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant
Table 5-1. Characteristics of Female Participants 22-44 Years of Age in the National
Survey For Family Growth 2006-2010 Cycle

Table 5-2. Women Reporting Subfecundity and Infertility Among Participants 22-44
Years of Age in the 2006-2010 National Survey for Family Growth
Table 5-3. Crude and Adjusted Prevalence Ratios of the Association Between
Metropolitan and Non-metropolitan Residence and Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting
Pregnant Among Participants 22-44 Years of Age in the 2006-2010 National Survey for
Family Growth
Table 5-4: Crude and Adjusted Prevalence Ratios of the Association Between Three
Level Type of Place of Residence and Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant
Among Participants 22-44 Years of Age in the 2006-2010 National Survey for Family
Growth
Table 6-1. Demographic Characteristics of Cancer Survivors by Whether or Not They
Received Fertility Counseling
Table 6-2. Adjusted Odds Ratios for Characteristics of Cancer Survivors and Receipt of
Fertility Counseling 101
Supplemental Table 6-A: Bivariate Associations Between Sociodemographic
Characteristics of Cancer Survivors and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (All Cancers) 104
Supplemental Table 6-B: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer
Survivors That Might Influence Initiating a Discussion About Fertility Counseling and
Receipt of Fertility Counseling (All Cancers)

Supplemental Table 6-C: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer
Survivors That Might Influence A Healthcare Provider's Initiation of a Discussion About
Fertility Counseling and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (All Cancers) 109
Supplemental Table 6-D: Bivariate Associations Between Sociodemographic
Characteristics of Cancer Survivors and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (Excludes
Melanoma and Thyroid Cancer) 111
Supplemental Table 6-E: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer
Survivors That Might Influence Initiating a Discussion About Fertility Counseling and
Receipt of Fertility Counseling (Excludes Melanoma and Thyroid Cancer) 113
Supplemental Table 6-F: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer
Survivors That Might Influence A Healthcare Provider's Initiation of a Discussion About
Fertility Counseling and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (Excludes Melanoma and
Thyroid Cancer)
Supplemental Table 6-G: Receipt of Fertility Counseling by Stage of Cancer Among
Breast Cancer Survivors

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3-1. Directed Acyclic Graph of the Relationship Between Race and Visiting a
Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant in the FUCHSIA Women's Study ^a
Figure 3-2. Unadjusted Survival Curves for Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant
by Race in the FUCHSIA Women's Study 45
Figure 4-1. Four and Two Category Classification of Counties of Residence for
FUCHSIA Participants Based on the NCHS Urban/Rural Classification Scheme
Figure 4-2. (A-C). Feelings about Biologic Children, Assisted Reproductive Technology,
and Adoption by Four Category County Level of Urbanization
Figure 6-1. Categories of Factors that May Influence Whether or Not a Woman Receives
Fertility Counseling at the Time of Cancer Diagnosis
Figure 6-2. Receipt of Fertility Counseling by Parity and Desire for More Children 120
Figure 6-3. Receipt of Fertility Counseling by Cancer Type 121

CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Overview

BACKGROUND AND PUBLIC HEALTH IMPORTANCE

In the United States it is estimated that over 6 million women of reproductive age experienced impaired fecundity or the inability to carry a baby to term between the years 2006-2010 [1]. An estimated 1.5 million married or cohabitating women experienced infertility or the inability to become pregnant, during this same time period. Infertility and impaired fecundity are a significant public health issue. These conditions affect women across different education, income, race and ethnic groups [2]. The inability to conceive and carry a baby to term affects the quality of life of women who desire to have children. However, infertility is not only a quality of life issue for women who want to have a child or more children. The American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM), World Health Organization, and International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology classify infertility as a disease of the reproductive system [3, 4].

Roughly 17% of women 25-44 years old in the US have ever used an infertility service to help them become pregnant [5]. Most women received advice or counseling when they visited a healthcare provider for help getting pregnant. Fewer women used infertility treatments and these ranged from medications to in vitro fertilization. For some women, accessing medical care for infertility counseling and treatment can help them meet their reproductive goals; however, women do not uniformly seek medical care to address these needs. Some medical conditions and treatments can affect fertility. Young adult women who are diagnosed with cancer are a particularly vulnerable to experience fertility problems directly from their cancer diagnosis or as a result of exposure to potentially gonadotoxic chemotherapy and radiation treatments. This potential damage to fertility is of concern to female cancer patients who want to have children in the future and sometimes influences treatment decisions [6, 7]. The ASRM and the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) recommend that all women of reproductive age who are diagnosed with cancer receive information about how cancer treatment could affect their fertility and the availability of fertility preservation options [8-10]. Despite this universal recommendation, almost half of reproductive-aged women diagnosed with cancer report not receiving this information from their doctor [6, 11]. Even among doctors who refer patients to fertility specialists, referral patterns vary in terms of frequency and patient characteristics used to determine the need for counseling about fertility preservation [12-14].

STUDY MOTIVATION

There is variation in help-seeking behaviors for infertility treatment among different groups of women. Differences by race, income, and education, among other factors have been documented in the literature, but have not been fully explained [15-17]. Studies of these differences are often small and limited to clinic populations, where all women included have already decided to seek help for their fertility problems. Moreover, much of the literature describing patterns of infertility service use focuses on in vitro fertilization [18, 19]. Less is known about differences among women in their overall use of medical care for infertility, which includes in vitro fertilization, but also counseling and less invasive procedures such as use of medications.

Infertility treatment has become more successful and more widely used in recent decades [1, 20]. However, increase in the use of these procedures has been disproportionate among specific groups of women within races, socioeconomic groups, and cultural groups [16, 21-23]. Furthermore, African American and Hispanic women are more likely to wait longer to seek care after they experience infertility compared with white women [21, 22, 24]. The first study aim will address racial disparities in seeking any type of help for becoming pregnant.

In addition to disparities by demographic characteristics, differences in physical access to medical care for help getting pregnant can influence use. For example, most women living in areas of the country that are highly urbanized are within 60 minutes of a fertility clinic, while women living in more sparsely populated areas have less access [19]. To address issues with physical access to any type of medical care for help getting pregnant, the second study aim will examine differences in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant by the level of urbanicity of a woman's place of residence.

Further, gaps in knowledge exist with regard to fertility preservation counseling and utilization among cancer survivors. There are many studies that are limited to certain types of cancers while other cancers are understudied. In addition, even though there have been advances in fertility preservation research, there is a lag in utilization [25].

The final study aim will determine which characteristics make cancer patients less likely to receive fertility counseling at the time of their cancer diagnosis. Much of the published literature on fertility treatment and preservation is in clinic populations and captures only those women who are already seeking treatment. All proposed study aims will utilize a population-based sample and will be able to characterize both women who do and do not seek fertility counseling and treatment.

STUDY POPULATION

The study aims will be addressed using data from the Furthering Understanding of Cancer Health and Survivorship in Adult (FUCHSIA) Women's Study. The FUCHSIA Women's Study is a population-based cohort study in Georgia of fertility in reproductiveaged female cancer survivors (n=1282) and a group of comparison women (n=1073). Women included in this study were 22-45 years old, and completed an hour long telephone interview which collected information on cancer diagnosis and treatment, menstrual function, desire for children, infertility, pregnancy, reproductive surgeries, infertility treatment, fertility preservation, hormone medications, medical conditions, and lifestyle.

The second data source used for this dissertation is the National Survey for Family Growth (NSFG). The NSFG is a US based survey that is conducted in a nationally representative sample of individuals by the National Center for Health Statistics at the Center for Disease Control and Prevention. The NSFG was first conducted in 1973 to gather information on marriage, divorce, contraception, infertility, and the health of women and infants [26]. The survey is conducted in cycles with the last cycle of completed interviews taking place between 2006 and 2010 [26]. During the 2006-2010 cycle, a national sample of 22,682 men and women between the ages of 15-44 years were interviewed [26]. There were approximately 10,000 interviews among men and 12,000 among women [26]. For this dissertation, we will be using information from the sections of the interview on use of infertility services and reproductive health in women to compare estimates of a disparity in infertility service use among women in FUCHSIA to a nationally representative sample.

STUDY AIMS

The overarching goal of this dissertation is to characterize disparities in receiving information about fertility treatment and preservation options. The primary objective of *Study Aim 1* is to assess the persistence of racial disparities after accounting for intermediate variables of the association between race and seeking medical help for becoming pregnant. We will also explore differences by race in the length of time women wait from when they first experience infertility to the time they visit a doctor for help becoming pregnant.

In *Study Aim 2* we seek to determine if a geographic disparity exists in visiting a doctor for help becoming pregnant among a population-based sample of reproductive-aged women in Georgia. We will assess the overall association between the level of urbanization of the county where a woman lives and visiting a doctor using data from the FUCHSIA Women's Study and NSFG data to compare our estimates in Georgia to a national sample. Using the FUCHSIA Women's Study data we will also describe differences in the type of provider and infertility service utilized.

Study Aim 3 is to identify and compare factors associated with not receiving information about how cancer treatment could affect future fertility among a cohort of women diagnosed with cancer during their reproductive years. We will also describe

which characteristics make women more or less likely to receive a referral to a fertility specialist at the time of diagnosis.

Aims 1 and 2 of the proposed study will help to identify racial and geographic disparities in seeking medical care for help getting pregnant. *Aim 3* will determine which women are being missed by the universal recommendation that all women diagnosed with cancer during their reproductive years be counseling on how treatment could affect their future fertility. Characterization of disparities in who seeks medical care for infertility can identify areas where general practitioners and community organizations can intervene to provide information on infertility services to women who may currently be unaware of the full range of counseling and treatment options available. Identifying factors that influence whether or not a cancer patient receives critical information on how treatment could affect future fertility can help inform oncologists and other medical providers of missed opportunities to provide this type of counseling.

CHAPTER 2: Background and Literature Review

INFERTILIY

Causes.

Clinical infertility is the failure to conceive after 12 months of trying [27]. There are many causes of female infertility. Some infertility may be caused by a single factor while others may be multifactorial. Some common causes of infertility related to reproductive conditions include polycystic ovary syndrome, endometriosis, and fibroids [28]. These conditions can cause hormonal and physiologic changes that can prevent pregnancy [28]. Infections can also cause infertility. Certain sexually transmitted infections such as chlamydia and pelvic inflammatory disease can cause damage to the fallopian tubes [29]. Scarring or inflammation of the fallopian tubes can prevent fertilization [30]. There are also genetic disorders that cause infertility such as Turner's syndrome, where a woman only has one X chromosome, and is sterile [28]. Environmental factors can also influence ovarian function and in turn fertility [31, 32]. Obesity, excessive exercise, or insufficient caloric intake can also affect reproductive function [28].

Prevalence.

The National Survey for Family Growth (NSFG) reports statistics on impaired fecundity among all reproductive aged women and infertility among married women of reproductive age in the United States [1]. From 2006-2010 there were over 6 million women of reproductive age in the US who reported having impaired fecundity [1]. During this same time period, it is estimated that 1.5 million married women of reproductive age experienced infertility [33]. This represents a significant public health problem since infertility is both a disease of the reproductive system and a quality of life issue [3]. There are differences in the rates of infertility among women of different races. The NSFG reports that 5.5% of white non-Hispanic women were infertile, while 7.2% of black non-Hispanic women were infertile [33]. Additionally, while there has been a decrease in the rates of infertility among white women in recent decades there has been an increase in rates of infertility among black women [15, 34]. In models adjusted for demographic factors non-Hispanic black women [33]. Biological and sociocultural factors contribute to this disparity, such as differences in 1) prevalence of sexually transmitted infections that can cause infertility, 2) marital status, where married women may detect problems with fertility earlier, and 3) maternal age, with women starting a family at older ages experiencing more infertility [15].

Measures.

There are many ways to evaluate female fertility. One way is to track a woman's menstrual cycle. The length and consistency of menstrual cycles can provide information about a woman's reproductive function [28]. Changes in menstrual cycle patterns may indicate changes in fertility and the absence of a menstrual cycle may signify the absence of ovulation [28, 35]. Using the characteristics of a woman's menstrual cycle can provide important information on her reproductive function and fertility status.

Another way is by asking women if they have ever experienced a period of infertility. This can be defined differently depending on the age of the women. Among

women who are early in their reproductive years, asking whether or not they have experienced a period 12 months or longer when they were having regular sexual intercourse with a male partner without using birth control and did not get pregnant can be an appropriate measure [28]. This measure uses the clinical definition of infertility, which is failing to conceive after 1 year of trying. Among women who are of advanced maternal age or as a measure of subfertility among all reproductive aged women, it may be more appropriate to ask the same question, but over a period of 6 rather than 12 months [28]. These measures of infertility are very broad however, and do not distinguish between male versus female factors of infertility.

Female fertility can also be measured clinically. Biomarkers such as anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) measure ovarian reserve. Tests for infertility using AMH as a marker test specifically for problems with the ovaries. AMH is a glycoprotein produced in females by the granulosa cells of the preantral and small antral follicles in the ovary [36]. AMH declines naturally with age as ovarian reserve decreases, but it may also decrease due to exogenous factors that affect ovarian reserve. AMH is a better marker of ovarian reserve than other markers of fertility, such as follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), because AMH is relatively stable throughout the menstrual cycle and does not change meaningfully with the use of oral contraceptives [37]. In addition, AMH begins to decline naturally when women are in their twenties, unlike other markers of fertility that do not change until women already have impaired fertility [38-40]. Further, declining AMH has been used to predict the onset of menopause [41]. Although AMH is arguably the best clinical marker of female fertility, there are no commonly accepted clinical cut points, and it measures quantity of antral follicles, but not quality [42, 43].

INFERTILIY TREATMENT

Treatment.

Fertility treatment can assist some women who are diagnosed with infertility get pregnant [22]. Fertility treatments include medications or procedures such as ovarian stimulating medication, intrauterine insemination, and in vitro fertilization (IVF) [44]. Fertility treatments have become more successful and more widely used in recent years [1, 20]. Each fertility treatment may be differentially successful based on factors such as the woman's age, cycle day 3 luteinizing hormone (LH)/ follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) ratio, etiology of infertility, and parity [24, 45]. It is important for women to be aware of the different treatments that are available to help them become pregnant and to receive information on the appropriateness of each of the treatments for their specific cause of infertility. However, these treatments remain differentially utilized as a result of a number of factors including that some women do not know they exist [21, 22].

CANCER AND INFERTILITY

Cancer during the reproductive years.

Many women of reproductive age are diagnosed with cancer each year. According to the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) statistics for 2010 the age adjusted incidence rate of cancer in women between the ages of 20-49 was 187 per 100,000 [46]. Over the past few decades, there have been great improvements in how cancer is treated. With this improvement in cancer treatment a greater need to address survivorship issues has developed. It has been well documented that cancer studies have reported decreased fertility in women treated with chemotherapy, especially alkylating agents [47, 48]. Since there is limited evidence on how cancer treatment affects future fertility in reproductive aged women diagnosed with cancer, it is difficult for physicians to advise their patients. It is also difficult to decide which treatment regimen is most appropriate for women who want to have children in the future when there is a choice of treatment options.

There have been many studies done in populations of childhood cancer survivors examining how treatment affects their future fertility [48-53]. These studies show that young girls treated for cancer suffer damage to their ovarian function. Later in life childhood survivors are more likely experience premature ovarian failure. In addition, childhood survivors who experienced normal menstrual function were more likely to have reduced ovarian reserve. There are also numerous registry-based studies conducted in Scandinavian countries [54-56]. These studies show that women diagnosed with cancer are more likely to be nulliparous and among those who did have children, more likely to have fewer children compared with their siblings. However, there are fewer studies of how cancer treatment affects the reproductive potential of women who are diagnosed with cancer during their reproductive years, although this body of literature is growing.

In addition to questions about which cancer treatment options are best for women who want to preserve their fertility, there is also conflicting advice given to women who have been diagnosed with cancer about when and if they should attempt pregnancy after cancer treatment. Specifically women with hormone responsive cancers have been advised not to become pregnant or use hormones necessary for fertility preservation and IVF [57]. However, there have been several recent studies that find women who have hormone responsive cancers do not have increased risk of cancer recurrence if they get pregnant [58-60].

FERTILIY PRESERVATION

Fertility preservation methods.

Women who are diagnosed with certain conditions which require potentially gonadotoxic treatment are at risk for infertility. For women who are fertile at the time of treatment, fertility preservation may be an option that allows for future pregnancies [61]. Fertility preservation methods include procedures such as egg, embryo, and ovarian tissue freezing [62]. Recently, egg freezing was reclassified so that it is no longer considered an experimental treatment, showing the advances in this area of medicine [63].

There are several fertility preservation options available [62, 64]. Embryo and oocyte preservation are the established methods of fertility preservation. These procedures require ovarian stimulation and retrieval of mature eggs for freezing eggs or for fertilization and freezing embryos. Embryo and egg freezing are the most successful forms of fertility preservation, but have a time commitment attached to them to stimulate the ovaries and harvest mature eggs [64]. There are also newly emerging experimental methods that can decrease or eliminate the waiting time to harvest eggs for preservation. These methods do not rely on the natural timing of a woman's menstrual cycle and so can be started immediately [65]. Random start ovarian stimulation can begin at any time in the menstrual cycle decreasing the amount of time needed from the traditional 2-6 weeks to within 2-3 weeks [66, 67]. The shorter delay of cancer treatment is important for

women who are concerned about their future fertility, but do not want to postpone cancer treatment or can only postpone for a short period of time [68-70].

Immature oocyte and ovarian tissue cryopreservation do not require stimulating ovulation and therefore can be performed immediately, but these procedures are still experimental. Harvesting these immature eggs eliminates waiting time for fertility preservation because eggs can be harvested and frozen in the state of maturity at which they exist at the time of diagnosis [71]. The immature eggs are frozen and then later matured in vitro IVF [71]. A few dozen births have been reported in the literature after using ovarian tissue cryopreservation and only one birth in a cancer survivor after cryopreserving immature oocytes [72, 73]. Additionally, with ovarian tissue cryopreservation there is some concern about transplanting cancer cells back into patients using frozen ovarian tissue [74]. For women who need to have pelvic radiation, moving the ovaries out of the field of radiation is another option, but there is limited data on the efficacy of this procedure in preserving fertility, but it may offer partial protection of the ovaries and has been associated with better hormone function [75].

Although fertility preservation is becoming more common, it is still rare [61, 76]. The ASRM and the ASCO recommend that fertility preservation be discussed with patients of reproductive age who are diagnosed with cancer as early as possible [8, 10]. The value of early referral for fertility preservation in cancer patients is multifold. Early referral allows for earlier initiation of cryopreservation cycles and in some cases multiple cycles. Undergoing multiple cycles increases the number of eggs that can be retrieved and used for fertility treatment in the future [65]. In addition, early referral allows some women to take advantage of a window of opportunity between early treatment that does not affect fertility (e.g., some surgeries) and the start of potentially gonadotoxic treatment regimens such as chemotherapy or radiation. In a study of breast cancer patients, women who were referred pre-surgery were able to start their chemotherapy regimens sooner than those who were referred to an infertility specialist for fertility preservation after surgery [65]. This earlier start to chemotherapy may benefit the patient and yield better outcomes for their cancer diagnosis [65].

Fertility counseling at time of diagnosis.

Loss of fertility has been reported to be almost as important to reproductive aged women diagnosed with cancer as concerns about survival [6, 77]. Although communication of the potential risks of cancer treatment on future fertility is a significant concern to many women, the quality of such conversations with their doctors is variable. ASRM and ASCO recommend doctors have these discussions with all their patients of reproductive age [8-10]. In a survey of oncologists however, only 14% reported always, or almost always giving educational materials about fertility preservation to their patients [12]. Among physicians who gave educational materials to their patients, only 27% thought that these materials were relevant to the patient's cancer diagnosis [12].

In a study of patient satisfaction with the discussion of how cancer treatment could affect their reproductive health, over half of the women reported the conversation lasted between 1 and 10 minutes [78]. Conversations that lasted greater than 10 minutes were most likely to occur in gynecologic cancer practices [78]. Additionally, only 14% of women reported being encouraged to talk to a fertility specialist regarding fertility preservation options [78]. Women who have more information about their options regarding fertility preservation and the effects of cancer treatment on fertility report less decisional conflict and regret regarding fertility related issues [78, 79]. Usually, the discussion about how cancer treatment could affect fertility and reproductive health is physician initiated, highlighting the importance of the physician's role in communicating this information [78].

DISPARITIES IN HEALTH

Health outcomes and access to care.

Health disparities have been described in many different ways. Healthy People 2020 defines a health disparity as "a particular type of health difference that is closely linked with social, economic, and/or environmental disadvantage" [80]. These disadvantaged groups experience adverse health outcomes systematically based on group membership [80, 81]. Two of the factors contributing to health disparities are differential access to and utilization of the medical system [23, 82]. There are many reasons for differences in the use of medical services by various groups. Some of the reasons documented in the literature that span across many health conditions include lack of awareness about treatments and services, lack of access to these services, and lack of trust of the medical system as a result of perceived discrimination in the past as well as historical injustices [23]. In studies of access to healthcare, African American and Hispanic individuals report more difficulty accessing care compared to white individuals [83]. Identifying factors that cause disparities in access to healthcare information is important, especially because it can be modified through communication. Identifying

groups that are underutilizing a medical service because of lack of information can highlight an area where change can be made by physicians and other health care professionals to improve both the quantity and quality of health information provided to these groups. Critical gaps exist in understanding disparities in accessibility to and utilization of fertility treatment and preservation.

Health seeking models.

Health behavior and health seeking models have been used to explain differences in utilization of health services across different health outcomes [23]. The general hypothesis of the Health Belief Model is that 2 things affect whether a behavior will occur: 1) a certain value placed by an individual on a particular goal and 2) the individual's estimate of the likelihood that a given action will achieve that goal [84]. In the context of infertility, the driving factors leading to seeking help for infertility could be 1) the desire to become pregnant and 2) the belief that seeking fertility counseling will result in an increased chance of becoming pregnant. The Health Belief Model is multidimensional and is comprised of perceived susceptibility and perceived severity of the health outcomes, as well as perceived benefits and perceived barriers of getting medical attention for the health outcome. The susceptibility of an individual to infertility and the severity of the condition are difficult to recognize. Unlike acute health outcomes, such as a heart attack, infertility does not present itself as the appearance of new and undesired symptoms, but rather is characterized by an absence [23]. This characteristic of infertility makes health seeking behavior for its treatment more complex than acute diseases.

Measuring health disparities.

Fertility treatment.

As fertility treatment becomes more common and more successful in helping women become pregnant, a new area for disparity has emerged [45]. Some women are able to utilize available treatments to help them become pregnant, whereas others are not as a result of factors such as cost, discomfort with infertility treatments, or access to fertility care [24, 45]. Quantifying this disparity is difficult, however, because help seeking behavior by women who are infertile is different from many other health problems in that not all who experience the condition need medical attention. Some women who are infertile will have already completed their family while others do not want to have any children. Help seeking behavior for infertility care therefore is limited to those women who have not completed their desired family size and are comfortable with the use of assisted reproductive technology to become pregnant. Only about half of couples who experience clinical infertility (1 year of trying without a pregnancy) seek help for getting pregnant [85].

Although there are many factors that may prohibit women from utilizing fertility treatments (e.g., insurance coverage, cost, comfort with treatment methods), all women should be able to receive information on these treatments. Yet, disparities remain in who goes to a doctor for help becoming pregnant [21, 24]. Studies have reported that African American women are less likely to use medical treatment for their infertility compared to white women [5, 24]. Among women who do seek medical help to become pregnant, African American women wait longer to seek care after difficulty becoming pregnant

compared with white women [22, 24, 86]. This delay in seeking help for becoming pregnant may affect the success and availability of certain infertility treatments. Even in places where there is mandated coverage for infertility treatment, women accessing these services have higher education and income and are more likely to be white compared to those who do not [16]. Thus, even when the burden of the cost of these treatments is reduced, disparities remain in who accesses them [16, 87]. Some of this lack of utilization may also come from cultural norms that attach stigma to infertility or from lack of information on the types of treatments available [21]. Both of these barriers to treatment can be addressed by 1) identifying which groups of women are not receiving the information they need to make informed decisions about their fertility, 2) determining the reasons why these women are not receiving this important information, and 3) increasing providers' awareness that these women need more information about infertility and fertility treatment options. Using data from the FUCHSIA Women's Study, we will be able to describe the characteristics of women who are not visiting a doctor to receive information on fertility treatment. Identifying these characteristics in women can be used to target interventions and recommendations more precisely and help these women overcome information-based obstacles to treatment. This is an advantage over prior clinic-based studies that were limited to women seeking care [22, 88].

Assisted reproductive technology outcomes.

There are differences in the pregnancy outcomes among black and white women who use assisted reproductive technology. For example, African American women have less success with ART compared to white women [24, 86, 87]. There have been some studies that report no difference in pregnancy outcomes after IVF, but these studies have been small overall and small numbers of African American women were included [89, 90]. Since African American women underutilize ART services, these results have limited generalizability [91]. In a large clinic-based study that utilized data from the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology Clinic Outcome Reporting System database, authors found significant disparities by race and ethnicity in ART outcomes [86]. Adjusting for maternal age, number of embryos transferred, male factor infertility, and several female reproductive conditions that can cause infertility, compared to white women, Asian, black, and Hispanic women were 10%, 38%, and 13% less likely to have a live birth after ART, respectively [86].

Fertility preservation methods.

Advances in fertility preservation methods have opened this option up to more women [9]. Women who were not candidates previously because of lack of a male partner and unwillingness to use donated sperm can now freeze eggs instead of embryos [8]. Female cancer patients who could not pursue fertility preservation because the time to stimulate the ovaries to harvest mature eggs can now take advantage of expedited stimulation protocols, which result in shorter times to harvest eggs [66]. Yet, fertility preservation is still a rarely used medical procedure with only about 4% of female cancer patients pursuing this type of treatment [25].

Despite the recommendations for universal fertility counseling by ASRM and ASCO, disparities exist in who receives information on fertility preservation methods [13, 25]. A recent review reported that among men and women diagnosed with cancer

between 34% and 72% recall being counseled on how their disease and treatment would affect their fertility [11]. In a national survey of oncologists, only about half consistently refer patients who are diagnosed during their reproductive years to a reproductive endocrinologist or infertility specialist [92]. Among physicians who do not routinely refer, characteristics of the patient can influence the decision to refer. Studies exploring these differences have been limited to women diagnosed with cancer types that are most likely to receive treatment shown to adversely affect fertility. These studies found associations between age, race, parity, and education and receipt of fertility counseling [13, 25]. These studies suggest that oncologists are using certain patient characteristics to decide which cancer patients receive fertility counseling.

STUDY POPULATIONS

The Furthering Understanding of Cancer, Health, and Survivorship (FUCHSIA) Women's Study is a population-based cohort study of women of reproductive age who have been treated for cancer compared with women of the same age who have never experienced cancer treatment. Cancer survivors in the FUCHSIA Women's Study were identified through the Georgia Cancer Registry. Cancer survivors were eligible to participate in the study if they were: female, diagnosed between the ages of 20-35 years, diagnosed with any malignant cancer or in situ breast cancer, able to complete the telephone interview in English, and 22-45 years old at the time of the interview. Comparison women, who were never diagnosed with cancer, were recruited from a purchased list frequency matched on the distribution of age and area of residence of the cancer survivors. There were a total of 1282 cancer survivors and 1071 comparison women who completed the telephone interview. The FUCHSIA Women's Study used a computer-assisted telephone interview to collect information on study participants [93]. The interview took approximately 1 hour to complete. It collected detailed information on various health topics including menstrual function, desire for children, infertility, pregnancy, reproductive surgeries, hormone medications, medical conditions and lifestyle.

The National Survey for Family Growth is a US based survey that is conducted in a nationally representative sample of individuals by the National Center for Health Statistics at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The NSFG was first conducted in 1973 to gather information on marriage, divorce, contraception, infertility, and the health of women and infants [26]. The survey is conducted in cycles with the last cycle of completed interviews taking place between 2006 and 2010 [26]. During the 2006-2010 cycle, a national sample of 22,682 men and women between the ages of 15-44 years were interviewed [26]. There were approximately 10,000 interviews among men and 12,000 among women [26].

CONTRIBUTIONS

This dissertation will contribute to the existing literature in several ways. The FUCHSIA Women's Study is a population-based study and represents a diverse group of women. The study population is reflective of the demographic make-up of Georgia and so includes a high proportion of black participants, who are a traditionally underrepresented group. Women also participated from all across the state, so there is representation from women living in areas with differing levels of urbanization. Data from these participants can help shed light on the characteristics of women who do not receive the fertility counseling and care they may desire. Currently, the literature on disparities in fertility care seeking is dominated by clinic-based studies, so results from the FUCHSIA Women's Study will add a large population-based study to the clinicbased literature. Our studies focus on describing the characteristics of women who do and do not seek or receive medical care for help getting pregnant and can describe overall disparities, not just disparities among help seekers, which is the population clinic-based studies are limited to examining. In addition to disparities in the use of fertility care in the general population, we will be able to address disparities in fertility-related care among reproductive age cancer survivors. We will use the NSFG to compare the results from the FUCHSIA Women's Study to a nationally representative sample.

Using the cancer survivors in the FUCHSIA Women's Study we will examine disparities in the receipt of critical information on the effects of cancer treatment on fertility and fertility preservation options among the cancer survivors in our study. There are gaps in the literature with regard to fertility preservation counseling and utilization among cancer survivors. Many studies limit inclusion into the study based on certain types of cancers while other types of cancers are understudied [25]. In addition, several studies in this area of research are fertility clinic-based. These studies only include women who have sought help for their infertility and do not provide any information about infertile women from a population level [22, 23, 86, 88].

Fertility treatment and preservation methods are procedures that have the potential to improve the quality of life of women who face infertility. While fertility treatment and preservation methods can help to treat or prevent infertility in some women, information on these methods is not universally available [25, 92]. All women who want or may want to have children should be given the opportunity to receive information about fertility treatment and preservation methods; however there is sometimes a lack of access to fertility counseling which contributes to disparities in treatment utilization. Using data from the FUCHSIA Women's Study and NSFG, we will be able to identify women who are underserved in the areas of fertility counseling, treatment, and preservation.

CHAPTER 3: Racial Disparities in Seeking Care for Help Getting Pregnant

Chin HB¹, Howards PP¹, Kramer MR¹, Mertens AC², Spencer JB³

¹ Department of Epidemiology, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA; ² Aflac Cancer Center, Department of Pediatrics, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA; ³ Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA

Abbreviations: ART: assisted reproductive technology; CI: confidence interval; DAG: directed acyclic graph; FUCHSIA Women's Study: Furthering Understanding of Cancer, Health, and Survivorship in Adult Women's Study; HR: hazard ratio; IVF: in vitro fertilization; RR: risk ratio; STI: sexually transmitted infection; US: United States

Running Head: Racial Disparities in Infertility Care
ABSTRACT

Fertility counseling and treatment can help women achieve their desired family size, however, disparities exist in the utilization of this care. This study examines the persistence of a racial disparity in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant by estimating the direct effect of this association using data from the FUCHSIA Women's Study, a population-based cohort study. This cohort included 1073 reproductive age women (22-45 years) with 28% reporting infertility. We fit log binomial models to quantify the magnitude of the racial difference in reported care seeking after adjustment for hypothesized mediators using inverse probability weighting. Compared with white women, black women were less likely to visit a doctor in the total population [adjusted risk ratio (aRR) = 0.57,95% confidence interval (CI): 0.41, 0.80] and in the subgroup of women with infertility [aRR = 0.75, 95% CI: 0.56, 0.99]. In addition, black women waited twice as long on average before seeking help compared with white women. There were notable racial differences in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant in this study although reports of infertility were similar by race. These differences may be mitigated through improved communication about the range of counseling and treatment options available.

Keywords: care seeking; disparities; infertility; race

INTRODUCTION

Infertility and impaired fecundity affect millions of women in the United States. Estimates of the prevalence of infertility range from 6%-15% among women of reproductive age [33, 94]. The burden of infertility and impaired fecundity affects women across demographic groups and exists unnoticed among women not actively trying to get pregnant [2, 95]. This inability to conceive or carry a baby to term affects the quality of life of women. Infertility, however, is not just a quality of life issue, the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM), World Health Organization, and International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology classify infertility as a disease of the reproductive system [3, 4]. National organizations have been established to provide support for those suffering from infertility and education to the public at large [96]. Recently, focus has been directed towards addressing the causes of infertility from a broader societal perspective [97]. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention developed a National Action Plan to address the detection, prevention, and management of infertility at the population level [98].

In the most recent cycle of the National Survey for Family Growth, 12% of female participants, representing 7.4 million women in the US, reported ever using medical services for infertility. These services ranged from advice, to provision of medications, to in vitro fertilization (IVF) [5, 44]. Counseling provides information to optimize chances of natural conception, as well as guidance about more involved procedures. For example, controlled ovarian hyperstimulation with injectable gonadotropins and timed intercourse or intrauterine insemination are often successful in younger women, but are also associated with a higher risk of multiple gestations [99, 100]. Whereas IVF, which is more invasive and expensive, when performed using single embryo transfer, has a higher ongoing pregnancy rate and lower risk of multiple gestations compared with other less invasive treatments [101, 102]. This information is essential to making informed decisions about medical care for getting pregnant.

Healthy People 2020 describes health disparities as not only differences in a health-related outcome, but differences that systematically and adversely affect disadvantaged populations [80, 81]. The social construct of race which represents a combination of factors including, appearance, culture, and social factors has been used as the basis for discrimination and perpetuating disadvantage [103]. In the US, black race is associated with a history of unequal treatment, exposure to racism, deprived neighborhoods, and lack of socioeconomic opportunity. These exposures have led to racial disparities in health and health related outcomes [104-106]. According to the National Survey for Family Growth, among married women, black women are more likely to report infertility compared with white women. Further, racial disparities exist in the utilization of infertility treatments with non-Hispanic white women most likely to receive treatment [5, 33]. As fertility counseling and treatment become more common and more successful in helping women become pregnant, a new area for disparity has emerged [45].

Gaps remain in understanding disparities in the accessibility to and utilization of infertility counseling and treatment. The preponderance of the literature is in clinic-based studies and only provides information on the subgroup of help-seeking women with infertility. Even among women who do seek medical help to become pregnant, studies have found that black women wait longer to seek care after difficulty becoming pregnant compared with white women [22, 24]. Infertility treatment may be cost prohibitive for some women, however, even in states where there are mandates that insurance coverage include infertility treatment, disparities by race and education persist [16, 107].

The primary objective of this paper is to assess the persistence of racial disparities after accounting for known mediating pathways of the association between race and seeking medical help for becoming pregnant. We also explore differences by race in the length of time women wait from when they first experience infertility to the time they visit a doctor for help becoming pregnant.

METHODS

We used data from the Furthering Understanding of Cancer Health and Survivorship in Adult (FUCHSIA) Women's Study. The FUCHSIA Women's Study is a population-based cohort study examining how cancer treatment during the reproductive years affects future fertility. It compares the reproductive experiences of female cancer survivors to a group of comparison women who never had cancer treatment. Comparison women were frequency matched on age and place of residence to the cancer survivors. Analyses for this paper utilize comparison women only because women who have been treated for cancer may have different access to and motivations for seeking medical care for help becoming pregnant compared with the general population, even if they did not receive treatment believed to impair fertility. Women were eligible to participate if they were 22-45 years old at recruitment, had a working telephone, and spoke English. Women were recruited to participate in the study independent of their fertility status, which allows us to examine infertility service use in the overall population and characterize participants who did and did not seek help for becoming pregnant. Women consented to participate and completed the study interview by telephone. The study was approved by the Emory University and Georgia Department of Public Health Institutional Review Boards.

Defining race and racial disparities in health are challenging [108]. In this study, the exposure was designated as self-reported black race compared with self-reported white race. We used self-reported race to represent the composite of factors that make up the experience of being black in the US to estimate disparities attributable to this complex measure. The outcome was whether or not women accessed care for help getting pregnant regardless of whether they used treatment or not. It was determined by the question "Have you ever visited a doctor or health professional for help becoming pregnant?" We also collected information on periods of possible impaired fertility through the question "Has there ever been a period of time during which you had unprotected sex with a male partner for 6 months or longer but you did not get pregnant? Only count periods of time when you had sex at least 3 times per month." Participants who answered 'yes' to this question were classified as sub-fertile. Follow-up questions captured the total number of months of impaired fertility, age when it happened, whether the woman was actively trying to get pregnant at the time, if spontaneous conception occurred, and any recurrences. We used the age and total months of impaired fertility to define infertility. Women reporting a period of time lasting 12 months or longer between the ages of 20-34 years or a period of 6 months or longer at age 35 years or older when they had unprotected intercourse but did not get pregnant were classified as infertile. These determinations correspond to the ASRM definition of infertility, although their definition also includes that unprotected intercourse must be appropriately timed [109].

Interviewers collected information from women on their general health and reproductive experiences, as well as demographic and lifestyle characteristics. We asked women for their race, current level of education, total household income in the previous 12 months, and address at the time of the interview. We asked participants how many children they desired and how many children they had given birth to at the time of the interview. To gauge women's feelings about invasive infertility procedures, women were asked about their comfort with intrauterine insemination and IVF using a 5 point Likert type scale. Women also answered questions about diagnosis with reproductive conditions including polycystic ovary syndrome, fibroids, or endometriosis and about sexually transmitted infections (STIs) including chlamydia, gonorrhea, or pelvic inflammatory disease.

Many of the participant characteristics collected in the interview were considered mediators of the association between race and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant in our directed acyclic graph (DAG) (*Figure 3-1*). Our main objective was to quantify the racial disparity that remains if the distribution of these sociodemographic factors were balanced between black and white women. To do this, we controlled for measured variables on all indirect paths between the social construct of race and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant in a weighted analysis. Weights were created using the inverse probability of the participants' self-reported race based on their education, income, place of residence, comfort with assisted reproductive technology (ART), and history of reproductive conditions and STIs. The weights created a pseudo-population where hypothesized mediators were balanced between black and white women. For analyses conducted in the subgroup of women who reported infertility, age at infertility and

actively trying to get pregnant were also included in the estimation of the weights. Weights were scaled to represent the observed sample size. Values in the tails of the distribution (at the 5st and 95th percentile) were truncated to reduce the influence of extremely large or small weights in the analysis [110].

We fit generalized linear models with a log binomial distribution to estimate the total and direct effect of the social construct of race on visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. To compare the results from our weighted analysis to traditional multivariable methods we fit a modified Poisson model with robust variances, because the log binomial model did not converge [111]. Assuming that the DAG depicts the true causal relationships, differences in the coefficients from the models with versus without adjustment for mediating variables represents the proportion of the total effect mediated by the specified paths [112].

To address possible differences by race in the time waited before visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant, we fit Cox proportional hazard models to estimate hazard ratios for visiting a doctor among women with infertility. The start time in these models was defined as the age at which women reported their first infertile period and the event time was the age at first doctor's visit. Women who did not visit a doctor were censored at age of hysterectomy, menopause, spontaneous conception, or interview. Survival models were adjusted for the same set of mediators as models in the main analysis using multivariable and weighted models. SAS 9.3 was used for all statistical analyses. RESULTS

The FUCHSIA Women's Study comparison group included 1,073 women. Of these women, 309 were black (29%), 712 were white (66%) and 52 reported another race

(5%). Our analyses were restricted to women who reported black or white race.

Characteristics of the sample by race are presented in *Table 3-1*. Median age at interview was 38 years for both black and white women. Black women in the study population had comparable education levels to white women, but lower household incomes. Most study participants resided in a large metropolitan area, with more white women reporting rural residence. The prevalence of STIs was higher among black women compared with white women (25% vs 5%) as well as the prevalence of fibroids (30% vs. 9%), while other reproductive conditions were more similarly distributed. Childlessness differed between the groups with 73% of black women and 84% of white women giving birth to at least one child at the time of the interview. Meeting reproductive goals also differed by race with over half of black women reporting they currently had fewer children than they desired compared with 39% of white women. The characteristics among the subgroup of women who experienced infertility were similar to the full sample (data not shown).

Of the 978 women who answered the question about experiencing impaired fertility, 44% reported a sub-fertile period, with similar reporting by race (*Table 3-2*). When using the stricter definition of infertility, the percentage dropped to 30% for black women and 28% for white women. Among the infertile, 67% of black women and 76% of white women reported primary infertility, or infertility before ever giving birth. Although report of this more restrictive period of infertility was similar by race, there were large differences in who was actively trying to get pregnant among this group. Thirty-two percent of black women and 67% of white women reported they were trying to conceive at the time of infertility. Estimates of the total effect of the social construct of race on visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant showed that black women were less likely to have a visit [risk ratio (RR) = 0.42, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.28, 0.64] (*Table 3-3*). This association remained in the subset of women who experienced infertility [RR = 0.48, 95% CI: 0.32, 0.71]. Estimates of the direct effect of race on visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant in the full sample using the weighted model was RR = 0.57, 95% CI: 0.41, 0.80. Among the subgroup of women who reported infertility, the weighted RR was 0.75, 95% CI: 0.56, 0.99. In multivariable models including the full set of mediators, the results were similar. The difference in the coefficients from the unadjusted and adjusted models represents 35% of the total effect explained by mediating paths in the full sample and 61% in the subgroup of women with infertility.

The distribution of ages at reported infertility cluster in the 20's for both black and white women with an overall median age of 26 years [interquartile range (IQR): 23-30]. Age at visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant among women with infertility is shifted towards the 30's with an overall median age of 29 years [IQR: 26-32]. Among women who visited a doctor after they reported infertility, white women waited a median of 1 year [IQR: 0-2] and black women waited 2 years [IQR: 0-4]. The unadjusted Kaplan-Meier plots show black women are less likely to have visited a doctor by the study interview (*Figure 3-2*). The maximum time women waited from first infertile period to visit was 12 years for both black and white women, however at this time 47% of white women and only 22% of black women had visited a doctor for help. The unadjusted hazard ratio (HR) for the association between race and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant was 0.37, 95% CI: 0.22, 0.60 (*Table 3-4*). Adjusted models controlled for the same mediators as the main models, restricted to infertile women. Using traditional adjustment, the estimated association moves towards the null [HR = 0.68, 95% CI: 0.39, 1.16], but the reduced likelihood of visiting a doctor remained. In the weighted model, the estimate was of a consistent magnitude as the fully adjusted model [HR = 0.70, 95% CI: 0.48, 1.03].

DISCUSSION

There were substantial racial differences in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant in this study even though reports of impaired fertility were similar across race groups. To examine racial disparities in this paper, we used black race as the exposure in our analyses, recognizing that race is an amalgam of many different components. We were focused on aspects of the experience of black race in the context of the US as a result of cultural beliefs, experiences with discrimination, poor access to healthcare and economic opportunity among other factors. Our goal was to estimate the racial disparity that remained after accounting for a set of identified mediating paths from the social construct of race to visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. We controlled for hypothesized mediators of this association, including sociocultural factors such as comfort with using assisted reproductive technologies, which other studies report differ by race [21, 22].

In the main analysis, we included all women regardless of their infertility status to get a picture of the overall disparity in infertility service use. In our study, 9% of women who reported visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant never reported experiencing infertility. We addressed those most likely to need medical help for getting pregnant in the analyses restricted to infertile women. In mediator-adjusted models, hypothesized intermediate pathways were only able to partially explain the difference by race in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. Adjusted estimates from the survival analysis were consistent and showed that not only do black women visit the doctor for help getting pregnant less often than white women, they also wait longer after experiencing infertility. The fact that racial disparities persist despite control for mediating paths suggests that additional components that contribute to the social construct of race are influencing this association.

Sociocultural factors that were unmeasured in our study may explain some of the racial disparity we found. In our study we controlled for discomfort with ART, which only partially captures the stigmatization that may surround infertility for some women. In a fertility clinic-based study, black women were more likely to report that they were concerned about social stigmatization and disappointing a spouse because of their infertility [21]. Furthermore, black women were more likely to self-refer for care compared with white women, however we did not see this greater likelihood of self-referral in our study. The remaining racial disparity we observed could also be the result of unmeasured confounding. We did not hypothesize any factors in our DAG that would cause both race and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. All of the covariates considered were mediators of this association. It is possible that there were factors that were not identified that confound the association between some of the mediators considered and the outcome, which could be distorting the estimate of disparities we observed.

In our study, black women were less likely to be married or report they were trying to get pregnant during an infertile period compared with white women. However,

35

women who are not married or cohabitating may still want to have a child and women not actively trying may want children in the future. The broad definition of infertility we used enabled us to capture potential fertility problems in these women. While all women classified as having infertility in our study do not represent unmet need (e.g., women who do not desire children or have completed their family size) and some may be the result of mistimed intercourse, it is important to identify all women who are at possible risk of needing infertility services. Since fertility as well as the potential success of infertility treatments decline with age, there is a benefit to discussing infertility treatment options with younger women [113, 114]. For example, with IVF, the success rate of fresh nondonor cycles has been reported to be 40% in women 35 years and younger and only 1% in women 44 years and older [113]. Despite our broad inclusion criteria, models restricting to women who reported primary infertility and wanting to have at least one child still showed a racial disparity.

The FUCHSIA Women's Study was well suited to examine disparities by race. Women who participated in our study reflect the demographic composition of Georgia women of reproductive age (20-44 years), which is 34% black [115]. Therefore, black women, a traditionally underrepresented group, had good representation in this study. Categories of education, place of residence, and household income were also well represented. In addition, women were recruited to participate in the study independently of their fertility status. This is in contrast to clinic-based studies that can only describe disparities among women who visit a fertility clinic for help getting pregnant, giving our study the advantage of being able to compare women who did and did not visit a doctor for help getting pregnant. We recruited women using a purchased marketing list which may have lacked information on some women we wanted to participate in our study. This may have been a source of selection bias, but comparison women were similar to cancer survivors on many factors including race. Another potential limitation is that the data are restricted to self-reported information on fertility discussions with healthcare providers without verification of these visits with medical records. However, we expect women are able to remember a self-initiated visit to the doctor for help getting pregnant and found in our pilot studies that women are able to consistently report information about their fertility and infertility treatments received [93].

Our study showed that even with control for an extensive list of hypothesized mediators a black/white racial disparity persisted. It is possible that stigma around infertility, which was unmeasured in our study, may be contributing to this disparity by limiting the sources of informal information and advice black women have access to in their social network. Better targeting of online resources, which have been suggested to be a preferred method of receiving information on stigmatized illnesses, could improve access to information on infertility and treatment [116]. Accessing information online is associated with women feeling more comfortable discussing infertility issues with their healthcare provider [117]. Initiation of conversations about available counseling and treatment options by a primary healthcare provider could also improve the exchange of information. This may decrease feelings of discomfort in visiting a specialist or using ART. Further, additional targeted outreach by organizations already in existence to fight stigma and improve knowledge about fertility problems, as well as support those suffering from infertility could be beneficial [96]. Provision of information on the wide

range of counseling and treatment options from different sources may decrease discomfort with infertility services, in turn reducing the disparity in their use, and help a greater number of women meet their reproductive goals.

Characteristic	Total women, no.	Black $n = 309$	White n = 712	<i>P</i> value ^a
	n = 1,021	0/	0/	
A co at interview (veers)		70	70	
Age at litter view (years)	64	71	5.0	0.74
22-29	04 552	7.1 53.1	54.5	0.74
40.45	332 405	30.8	30.6	
Education	405	39.0	39.0	
Less than high school/ high				0.06
school grad	50	65	42	0.00
Some college or technical school	238	24.3	22.9	
College graduate	381	24.5	39.8	
Some graduate school/ graduate	501	51.7	57.0	
degree	351	37.5	33.1	
Missing	1	51.5	55.1	
Income	1			
Less than or equal to \$50k	279	41.6	21.8	< 0001
\$50k - 100k	386	40.0	37.8	
\$100k+	338	18.4	40.4	
Missing	4	1011		
Place of residence	-			
Non-metropolitan	117	6.2	13.8	0.0001
Small metropolitan	158	12.3	16.9	
Large metropolitan	746	81.6	69.4	
Ever given birth				
Yes	822	72.5	84.0	<.0001
No	199	27.5	16.0	
Fewer kids than desired at				
interview ^b				
Yes	431	51.2	38.8	0.0003
No	583	48.8	61.2	
Missing	7			
Comfortable with assisted				
reproductive technology ^c				
Strongly agree	101	6.9	11.3	0.09
Agree	229	20.0	23.8	
Neither agree nor disagree	113	11.5	11.0	
Disagree	289	32.1	27.0	
Strongly disagree	280	29.5	26.9	
Missing	9			
Polycystic ovary syndrome				
Yes	80	5.5	8.9	0.07
No	937	94.5	91.1	
Missing	4			
Endometriosis				

Table 3-1. Demographic and Reproductive Characteristic of Participants in theFUCHSIA Women's Study by Race

Yes	91	7.5	9.6	0.28
No	927	92.5	90.4	
Missing	3			
Fibroids				
Yes	155	30.4	8.7	<.0001
No	861	69.6	91.3	
Missing	5			
Chlamydia				
Yes	94	21.0	4.1	<.0001
No	927	79.0	95.9	
Gonorrhea				
Yes	27	5.5	1.4	0.0002
No	994	94.5	98.6	
Pelvic inflammatory disease				
Yes	25	4.9	1.4	0.001
No	996	95.2	98.6	

^a P-values were calculated using a chi square statistic.

^b Fewer kids defined by subtracting the number of children a woman desired from the number of children she had at the time of the interview.

^c Based on the question: "I would be/would have been comfortable with the idea of using assisted reproductive technology, such as in vitro fertilization or artificial insemination, to help me get pregnant."

Characteristic	Total women,	Black	White	P value ^b
	no.	n = 292	n = 080	
	n = 978			
		%	%	
Subfertility ^c				
Yes	432	45.6	43.6	0.57
No	546	54.5	56.4	
Infertility ^d				
Yes	278	29.8	27.8	0.54
No	700	70.2	72.2	
Actively trying ^e				
Yes	156	32.2	67.0	<.0001
No	122	67.8	33.0	

Table 3-2. Proportion of Women in the FUCHSIA Women's Study ReportingSubfertility and Infertility^a

^aTwenty-six white women and 17 black women had missing values for the question asking about impaired fertility.

^b P-values were calculated using a chi square statistic.

^cSubfertility: A period of time lasting at least 6 months when a women was having regular unprotected intercourse, but did not get pregnant.

^dInfertility: A period of time lasting at least 6 months at or after age 35 years or at least 12 months between the ages 20-34 years when a woman was having regular unprotected intercourse, but did not get pregnant.

^eActively trying to get pregnant among those with infertility during the reported infertile period.

	Women							
	visiting	Total						
	a doctor,	women,						
	no.	no.	Unadjusted		Adjusted ^a		Weighted ^b	
			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
All women								
White	136	712	1.00	reference	1.00	reference	1.00	reference
Black	25	309	0.42	0.28, 0.64	0.54	0.35, 0.81	0.57	0.41, 0.80
Infertile women ^c								
White	97	191	1.00	reference	1.00	reference	1.00	reference
Black	21	87	0.48	0.32, 0.71	0.76	0.52, 1.11	0.75	0.56, 0.99

 Table 3-3. Crude and Adjusted Risk Ratios of the Association Between Race and

 Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant in the FUCHSIA Women's Study

Abbreviations: RR: risk ratio; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

^aAdjusted: traditional adjustment for education, income, place of residence, comfort with ART, reproductive conditions, and sexually transmitted infections (models with the infertile group of women also included age at start of infertility and whether or not women were actively trying to get pregnant at the time they reported infertility); adjusted models use modified Poisson model because the log binomial model failed to converge

^bWeighted: data were weighted by the inverse probability of being exposed (black race); probabilities were calculated as a function of the mediators from the adjusted models ^cInfertile women: Women who reported a period of time lasting at least 6 months at or after age 35 years or at least 12 months between the ages 20-34 years when a woman was having regular unprotected intercourse, but did not get pregnant.

	Women visiting a doctor,	Total women,	Unadjusted		Adjusteda		Weighted ^b	
	но.	но.	UI.	laujusteu	Aujusieu		weighted	
			HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI	HR	95% CI
Infertile women ^c								
White	97	191	1.00	reference	1.00	reference	1.00	reference
Black	21	87	0.37	0.22, 0.60	0.68	0.39, 1.16	0.70	0.48, 1.03

 Table 3-4. Crude and Adjusted Hazard Ratios of the Association Between Race and

 Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant in the FUCHSIA Women's Study

Abbreviations: HR: hazard ratio; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval

^aAdjusted: traditional adjustment for education, income, place of residence, comfort with ART, reproductive conditions, sexually transmitted infections, age at start of infertility, and whether or not women were actively trying to get pregnant at the time they reported infertility ^bWeighted: data were weighted by the inverse probability of being exposed (black race); probabilities were calculated as a function of the mediators from the adjusted models ^cInfertile women: Women who reported a period of time lasting at least 6 months at or after age 35 years or at least 12 months between the ages 20-34 years when a woman was having regular unprotected intercourse, but did not get pregnant.



Figure 3-1. Directed Acyclic Graph of the Relationship Between Race and Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant in the FUCHSIA Women's Study^a

^aBold line indicates the direct effect of the exposure on the outcome.

Figure 3-2. Unadjusted Survival Curves for Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant by Race in the FUCHSIA Women's Study



CHAPTER 4: Differences in Women's Use of Medical Help for Becoming Pregnant by the Level of Urbanization of County of Residence in Georgia

ABSTRACT

Objective: The goal of this study was to determine if there are differences by geographic type of residence in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant in a population-based study.

Methods: Using data from the FUCHSIA Women's Study, a cohort study of fertility outcomes in reproductive aged women, we fit log binomial and modified Poisson models to estimate the association between the level of urbanization of the county were a woman lived and seeking help for becoming pregnant. This association was assessed using a two and four category classification scheme.

Results The prevalence of visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant ranged from 13-17% across all geographic groups examined. The greatest differences were seen using the four category classification, where adjusted estimates revealed that women living in suburban counties were most likely to seek medical care for help getting pregnant compared with women living in urbanized counties (adj. PR = 1.16, 95% CI 0.75, 1.80); among women who reported infertility this difference was more pronounced (adj. PR = 1.59, 95% CI 1.00, 2.53). Women who reported infertility and lived in a small metropolitan county were also more likely to seek fertility care (adj. PR = 1.36, 95% CI 0.80, 2.30), while women in rural counties were equally likely to seek fertility care compared with women in urbanized counties (adj. PR = 1.09, 95% CI 0.55, 2.17).

Conclusion Our results suggest that women living in the most rural and most urbanized counties access medical care for help getting pregnant less frequently than women in

suburban and small metropolitan counties. Increased communication about infertility treatment by providers who women see for regular care may help decrease this disparity.

INTRODUCTION

The ability to have a biologic child is important to many women of childbearing age, and experiencing infertility can lead to a decreased quality of life. Infertility counseling and treatment may help some women who are unable to conceive naturally become pregnant. Although medical care for infertility encompasses a wide range of services, much of the literature on tracking infertility service use to date has focused on use of in vitro fertilization (IVF) [18, 19]. Less is known about geographic differences in overall medical care for infertility, which includes IVF, but also includes counseling and less invasive procedures such as use of medications to stimulate ovulation. According to the National Survey for Family Growth (NSFG), 17% of reproductive-aged women in the United States reported ever using an infertility service from 2006-2010 [5]. Among these women, advice and infertility testing were the most commonly reported services used [5].

There has been an overall increase in the use of infertility care since 1982 when the NSFG began collecting this information, yet not all women who need medical help to get pregnant are getting the assistance they need. Underutilization of infertility services may be a result of many factors including discomfort with certain procedures, high cost, and lack of awareness of the range of options available [21, 22, 118]. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recently released a National Public Health Action Plan to address the detection, prevention, and management of infertility; one of its objectives is to eliminate disparities in access to treatment for infertility [98]. Where a woman lives may be a factor contributing to these disparities.

There are several documented barriers to access to medical care in rural areas. These areas often have fewer healthcare providers per population served compared with

urban areas. This limits the number of providers to choose from and types of doctors available for specialized care [119-121]. Rural areas also have low population density, which often results in longer travel times to visit a doctor, increasing the time commitment needed to seek medical care [122]. For example, most women living in areas of the country that are highly urbanized are within 60 minutes of a fertility clinic, while women living in more sparsely populated areas have longer travel times to reach specialized fertility care [19]. Further, rural residence is also associated with lack of insurance or insurance instability which may limit women's ability to seek care. Even with insurance, many treatments are not covered [107, 123, 124]. At the population level, insurance coverage affects women's use of fertility counseling and treatment. In states where there is mandated insurance coverage for infertility care, rates of use of assisted reproductive technology (ART) have increased more rapidly than in states without mandates. However, in some subgroups, including black women, women with less education, and women with lower income, ART use remains low [107, 125]. The combination of both physical and financial barriers make accessing medical care in some rural and remote areas challenging.

Little is known about differences by geographic type of residence and seeking medical advice and treatment for infertility. In this paper, we seek to determine if a geographic disparity exists in visiting a doctor for help becoming pregnant among a population-based sample of reproductive-aged women in Georgia. The objectives of this study are to assess the overall association between the level of urbanization of the county where a woman lives and seeking fertility care or counseling and to describe differences in the type of provider accessed and infertility service utilized.

METHODS

We used data from the Furthering Understanding of Cancer Health and Survivorship in Adult (FUCHSIA) Women's Study to address our study objectives. The FUCHSIA Women's Study is a population-based cohort study to examine how cancer treatment affects the fertility of female cancer survivors who were diagnosed during their reproductive years. Women who never had cancer were recruited as a comparison group frequency matched on age and place of residence to the cancer survivors. For this paper we restricted the analysis to comparison women only, because women who have been treated for cancer, in general, have increased contact with medical care compared with the rest of the population, which may also facilitate engaging with the medical system to address infertility. Further, treatment for cancer may have included receiving information on or referrals for fertility preservation and treatment. Women were eligible to participate if they were 22-45 years old at recruitment, had a working telephone, and spoke English. They were recruited independent of their fertility status. Women consented to participate and completed the study interview by telephone. The study was approved by the Emory University and Georgia Department of Public Health Institutional Review Boards.

Geographic type of residence was defined based on the 2013 National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) Urban-Rural Classification Scheme [126]. This classification scheme categorizes counties into one of six groups based on level of urbanization. Four of these groups fall under metropolitan: large central, for counties with at least 1 million residents that also contain the largest principal city of the metropolitan statistical area (MSA), have their entire population contained in the largest principal city of the MSA, or have at least 250,000 people in any principal city in the MSA; large fringe, for counties that have at least 1 million residents, but do not meet the additional criteria for large central; medium, for counties in an MSA with populations between 250,000 and 999,999 residents; and small, for counties in an MSA that have less than 250,000 residents. The remaining two groups are non-metropolitan. Micropolitan counties fall in a micropolitan statistical area (between 10,000 and 49,999 residents) and noncore counties are those that are smaller than a micropolitan area.

For this study, participants address at the time of the interview was used to construct the exposure variable describing the level of urbanization of participants' residence. The 6 level NCHS scheme was collapsed into larger groups to create two new classification schemes (*Figure 4-1*). The first scheme used a four category classification, where the first two categories were maintained from the original scheme (large central and large fringe), but are referred to in this paper as urbanized and suburban counties, respectively. The third category combined medium and small metropolitan counties into one group, small metropolitan. The fourth category encompassed all non-metropolitan counties to form a small town/rural category. The second scheme collapsed the four categories further into two groups. The first group, large metropolitan, was created by combining urbanized and suburban counties. The second group, small/non-metropolitan, was created by combining the small metropolitan and small town/rural groups. The outcome for this study was defined directly from a question on the interview which asked "Have you ever visited a doctor or health professional for help becoming pregnant?" This question was asked of all participants regardless of marital status or reported infertility.

The interview also contained questions that allowed us to capture information on the characteristics of the study participants, to include race, current level of education, and total household income in the previous 12 months. Information on type of health insurance at the time of the interview was used as a proxy of health insurance status at the time women may have wanted to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant. In addition, women were asked if they knew whether their insurance included full or partial coverage for fertility treatment. Women reported if they had any experience with infertility and the ages at which it occurred. Infertility was defined as reporting a period of time lasting 12 months or longer between the ages of 20-34 years or a period of 6 months or longer at age 35 years or older when they had unprotected intercourse at least 3 times per month, but did not get pregnant. This definition is similar to that of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, although their definition also includes that unprotected intercourse must be appropriately timed [109]. To capture some of the cultural aspects that may be affecting women's decision-making, women were asked their feelings about adoption, use of invasive infertility treatments, and importance of having a biologic child using a 5 point Likert-type scale.

Data Analysis

SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC) was used for all statistical analyses. We examined participant characteristics by county geographic category and by visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. Among those with the outcome, we also described type of doctor visited and type of infertility service used. Log binomial models were fit to estimate a prevalence ratio (PR) for visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant for each of the county of residence classification schemes. Modified Poisson regression with robust variances was used in cases where the log binomial model did not converge [111]. Models were fit for both the total population and restricted to the subgroup of women who reported ever

experiencing infertility, to assess the association between level of urbanization of county of residence and visiting a doctor for fertility counseling and treatment among those most likely to need help. Visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant among women living in small and non-metropolitan counties was compared with women living in a large metropolitan county. Similarly, the prevalence of visiting a doctor among participants from suburban, small metropolitan, and small town/rural counties were each compared with visiting a doctor among participants from an urbanized county.

Based on the literature and a causal diagram created for this study, we determined important covariates of the association between place of residence and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. The first set of models controlled for race (black, white, other race), education (college or greater, less than college degree) and income (less than \$50k, \$50-100k, \$100k+). These demographic factors were hypothesized as confounders of the association being evaluated. In the second set of models, we additionally controlled for women's comfort with ART and adoption, how important it was to have a biologic child, insurance status (private, public, self, none), and among the subgroup who reported a period of infertility, age at infertility. Information on comfort with ART and adoption as well as the importance of having a biologic child were collected on a Likert type scale, but responses were dichotomized for inclusion in models. These additional variables were hypothesized as important covariates of the association between type of place of residence and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant, but not as traditional confounders, so were included in a separate model.

RESULTS

For this study 1073 comparison women from the FUCHSIA Women's study were included in the analysis. The characteristics of the sample by four category place of residence are presented in Table 4-1. The age at interview was similar by type of metropolitan residence (median age between 38-39 years). We had good representation by race in the overall study population although when we stratified by our exposure we found less diversity in the small town/rural and small metropolitan counties, which is consistent with state demographics [127]. Participants from urbanized counties were most likely to have at least a college degree and had the highest household incomes of the four metropolitan categories. Small town/rural and small metropolitan counties had the most uninsured and publicly insured women. The majority of women across all four categories did not know if their insurance policy covered fertility treatment (small town/rural: 72.6%, small metropolitan: 65.5%, suburban: 70.0%, urbanized: 71.5%). Participants from small town/rural counties reported experiencing infertility the most (36.8%) and participants from suburban counties reported infertility the least (20.6%). Age at infertility ranged from 25 to 28 years old across the four groups. Compared with women living in urbanized counties, women from small town/rural counties reported less comfort with assisted reproductive technology (ART), but greater comfort with adoption (Figure 4-2). The importance of having a biologic child was similar across all four geographic categories, with most women reporting that this was very important to them.

Table 4-2 presents the characteristics of doctor visits for fertility counseling and treatment. The crude proportion of women visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant ranged from 13% in the small town/rural counties to 17% in the suburban counties. Among women who visited a doctor for help getting pregnant, women in small

town/rural counties reported doing so at the youngest ages (median 27 years, interquartile range (IQR) 24, 30), while women from urbanized counties reported the oldest ages (median 30.5 years, IQR: 27, 34.5). Many women saw more than one type of healthcare provider. For most women this included visiting their obstetrician/ gynecologist. Women living in small metropolitan counties were the most likely of the four groups to report visiting their general practitioner for help (20%). Sixty percent of women from urbanized counties reported visiting a fertility specialist compared with 33% in small town/rural counties. Residents of urbanized and suburban counties also reported more use of alternative medicine with 14% reporting a visit to an acupuncturist or naturopath compared with 5% among small town/rural and small metropolitan residents. Type of treatment received also differed by level of county urbanization. Women from small town/rural and small metropolitan counties were more likely than those from urbanized or suburban counties to receive medications, but less likely to receive testing alone or IVF. Participants who lived in small town/rural and urbanized counties reported surgery more than the other two groups. Women who reported receiving the most invasive treatment procedure, IVF, differed by type of county of residence with 20% of women from urbanized, 15.2% from suburban, 12.5% from small metropolitan, and no women from small town/rural counties reporting receipt of this treatment modality. Receipt of counseling only and insemination was similar across groups.

In the full sample, using the two category classification scheme, the unadjusted models showed women from small and non-metropolitan counties were less likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant compared with large metropolitan county residents, prevalence ratio (PR) = 0.82, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.59, 1.14 (*Table 4-3*).

Adjustment for demographic factors (*Model 1*) attenuated the association, adjusted (adj.) PR = 0.91, 95% CI 0.65, 1.28. The addition of variables measuring comfort with ART and adoption, importance of a biologic child, and insurance status to the model resulted in the estimate shifting closer to the null, adj. PR = 0.95, 95% CI: 0.67, 1.33 (*Model 2*). In unadjusted models restricted to women who experienced infertility, there was a similar, yet slightly more pronounced reduced likelihood of seeking fertility care or counseling among women from small and non-metropolitan counties compared with women from a large metropolitan county (PR = 0.73, 95% CI: 0.53, 1.02). Adjusting for demographic factors reduced the magnitude of the association (adj. PR = 0.80, 95% CI: 0.58, 1.09). Like results from *Model 2* in the full sample, including additional covariates in the model with infertile women only did not meaningfully change the estimate from the model fit with demographic factors alone.

Table 4-4 shows the results for the four category county level of urbanization classification scheme. Unadjusted estimates show women residing in small town/rural counties were less likely (PR = 0.89, 95% CI 0.48, 1.65) and women living in a suburban county were more likely (PR = 1.15, 95% CI: 0.74, 1.78) to visit a doctor compared with women living in an urbanized county. The prevalence ratio comparing women from a small metropolitan county to women from an urbanized county was null (PR = 0.94, 95% CI: 0.54, 1.63). In adjusted estimates the prevalence of seeking fertility care among women from small metropolitan and small town/rural counties were similar to that of urbanized counties. However, women living in suburban counties remained slightly more likely to visit a doctor compared with women from urbanized counties in all adjusted analyses.

Restricting to the infertile sample, there was a similar crude association across the four categories of county level of urbanization, with small town/rural county residents being less likely and suburban county residents being more likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant (PR = 0.76, 95% CI: 0.38, 1.54 and PR = 1.30, 95% CI: 0.77, 2.17, respectively). The unadjusted estimate comparing small metropolitan county residents to women living in an urbanized county was null (PR = 1.06, 95% CI: 0.57, 1.94). Again, after adjusting for covariates, the increased likelihood of visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant among women from a suburban county compared with an urbanized one persisted (*Model 1*, adj. PR = 1.49, 95% CI: 0.93, 2.40 and *Model 2*, adj. PR = 1.59, 95% CI: 1.00, 2.53). Unlike models fit with the entire population however, women from a small metropolitan county showed an increased likelihood of visiting a doctor similar to that of the suburban residing participants (*Model 1*, adj. PR = 1.36, 95% CI: 0.74, 2.27 and *Model 2*, adj. PR = 1.36, 95% CI: 0.80, 2.30). Adjusted estimates comparing small town/rural residents with urbanized county residents were null.

DISCUSSION

This large population based study provides critical information about the relationship between women's access to fertility-related counseling and treatment and the level of urbanization of the county where they live. The proportion of women in our study who reported ever visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant ranged from 13-17% which is consistent with the national average of 15% among 22-44 year old female participants in the 2006-2010 NSFG. Differences in seeking fertility counseling and care were detected only among the infertile sample of women when using the two category classification of type of residence. Living in a small and non-metropolitan county was

associated with being slightly less likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant compared with living in a large metropolitan county. However, using the finer four category coding of the exposure, we were able to see differences masked in by the two category classification scheme. Among the full sample and women with infertility, living in a suburban county was associated with a greater likelihood of visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. The most notable differences were again among the women who reported experiencing infertility. After accounting for differences in the distribution of participant characteristics by type of residence, women from small town counties became similar to the women from suburban counties in their use of medical care for help getting pregnant and small town/rural residents became more similar to urbanized county residents.

Some of the variables we controlled for in the analysis, specifically the demographic factors included in *Model 1*, we hypothesized may be confounders of the association between place of residence and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. There were additional variables that were not identified in the conceptual model for this study as confounders, but were considered important covariates and may be mediators of the association being evaluated. For example, they type of county where a woman lives might influence how she feels about having a child or more children, which in turn might affect her use of medical care to become pregnant. We used *Model 2* to assess the magnitude of the association between type of place of residence and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant holding these potential mediators constant. Results from these models using the four category scheme for type of place of residence among the full sample did not differ from results from the confounder only adjusted models. In models

59

that were restricted to the subgroup of infertile women, however, there was a stronger association present after adjusting for potential mediators compared with adjusting for hypothesized confounders alone indicating that not controlling for these factors may be masking some of the effect.

Comfort with ART and adoption and the importance of having a biologic child, which were used as indicators of cultural concerns, showed differences between geographic groups. Moving from the least urbanized to most urbanized counties, there was a trend of increasing comfort with ART and decreasing comfort with adoption. When women were asked how important it was that they have a biologic child, however, the majority of women regardless of type of county of residence reported that this was very important to them. Discomfort with invasive procedures, which may be a partly due to lack of knowledge of these treatments, and limited access to certain specialists may constrain the range of treatment options women receive for help getting pregnant. Women living in small town/rural counties and small metropolitan counties were most likely to report receiving medications as part of their treatment, which may be a reflection of the type of healthcare provider they are seeing for care. Women living in these two types of places of residence all reported seeing their obstetrician/gynecologist for fertility care, who may have prescribed them with medications, since IVF would require referral to a fertility specialist and visiting an ART clinic.

A strength in our study was that women were recruited to participate independently of their fertility status, allowing for a comparison between women who did and did not visit a doctor for help getting pregnant. This is an advantage over fertility
clinic-based studies which are only able to describe women who seek help. All women interviewed were asked whether or not they ever visited a doctor for help getting pregnant, regardless of their marital or infertility status. Of those visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant, close to 10% never reported experiencing a period of infertility. Because the interview was extensively detailed, we were able to capture information not commonly collected in studies such as women's feelings about ART and adoption, as well as how important having a biologic child was to them. This information was used to describe some of the cultural and environmental factors that may differ by type of county of residence.

The sample size overall for this study was large, but once women were divided into four categories based on their type of place of residence, the sample size for each of these groups became small. The small sample within each category of our exposure variable caused many of our estimates to be imprecise; however, we focused on an issue that has been sparsely addressed in the literature. Studies looking at geographic disparities in use of medical help have focused on other health outcomes or access to only specialized care for becoming pregnant [19, 128-130]. Another limitation was that we were constrained to women's place of residence at the time of the interview, which on average, was 9 years after the age at visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. On the population level, there has been an approximately 3.5% increase in the urban population in the state of Georgia between 2000 and 2010 [131, 132]. This shift in population towards urbanized counties means some women may be misclassified. Even among women who did move they may have moved from the same type of county as their current residence or visited a doctor after moving, and so would still be correctly classified. Lastly, there may be unmeasured or unidentified confounding in our study. The second set of models controlled for both hypothesized confounders and potential mediators of the association between type of geographic place of residence and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. Confounders of the mediator and the outcome that were not included in our model may be distorting the estimate of differences in use of fertility care by type of place of residence we observed.

This study adds to the literature on disparities in access to care for help getting pregnant. The population based aspect of our study aligns with the CDC's National Action Plan focused on addressing infertility and its treatment at the population level [98]. Suburban county residents were consistently the most likely to visit a doctor for fertility counseling and treatment of the four categories of county level of urbanization. Our results suggest that there may be limited differences in seeking medical care for help getting pregnant among small metropolitan county residents compared with suburban residents, after controlling for differences in the characteristics of women in these populations. This study also confirms urban/rural differences in access to healthcare with fewer women who live in small town/rural counties are accessing care for help getting pregnant compared to women living in other types of counties. In our study, a greater proportion of women from small town/rural counties reported experiencing infertility, suggesting that the differences in utilization of fertility care may represent a geographic disparity in access to care. Lastly, this study highlights a differences in a little explored comparison between residents within large metropolitan counties, with the urbanized counties being less likely to access infertility care compared with suburban residents.

Although increasing the number of fertility specialists in small town/rural counties may not be possible, efforts can be made to increase the provision of information about infertility care by general practitioners and obstetrician/gynecologists, from whom our study shows women living in small town/rural counties are most likely to seek fertility care or counseling. This strategy is also applicable to practitioners in urbanized counties where fertility specialists may be available, but inaccessible for reasons other than physical access. An improved effort to communicate with patients about their reproductive goals and medical options available to meet these goals by less specialized healthcare providers may increase the use of medical care for help getting pregnant allowing more women to achieve their desired family size.

		_			
	Small town/rural $(n = 113)$	Small metropolitan (n = 171)	Suburban $(n = 655)$	Urbanized $(n = 134)$	Total $(n = 1073)$
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Age at CATI (years)					
22-29	12 (10.6)	14 (8.2)	36 (5.5)	10 (7.5)	72 (6.7)
30-39	66(58.4)	87 (50.9)	355 (54.2)	68 (50.8)	576 (53.7)
40-45	35 (31.0)	70 (40.9)	264 (40.3)	56 (41.8)	425 (39.6)
Race					
White	94 (83.2)	121 (70.8)	419 (64.5)	78 (59.1)	712 (66.8)
Black	16 (14.2)	40 (23.4)	203 (31.2)	50 (37.9)	309 (29.0)
Other	3 (2.7)	10 (5.9)	28 (4.3)	4 (3.0)	45 (4.2)
Missing	0	0	5	2	7
Education					
High school and less	10 (8.9)	13 (7.6)	26 (4.0)	3 (2.3)	52 (4.9)
Some college	43 (38.1)	50 (29.2)	151 (23.1)	13 (9.8)	257 (24.0)
College graduate	30 (26.6)	55 (32.2)	250 (38.2)	61 (45.9)	396 (36.9)
Graduate school	30 (26.6)	53 (31.0)	228 (34.8)	56 (42.1)	367 (34.2)
Missing	0	0	0	1	1
Income					
Less than \$50k	56 (50.9)	60 (35.5)	159 (24.7)	24 (18.5)	299 (28.4)
\$50k - 100k	40 (36.4)	69 (40.8)	252 (39.1)	41 (31.5)	402 (38.2)
\$100k+	14 (12.7)	40 (23.7)	233 (36.2)	65 (50.0)	352 (33.4)
Missing	3	2	11	4	20
Insurance					
Private	84 (74.3)	127 (74.3)	534 (81.7)	109 (82.0)	854 (79.7)
Public	7 (6.2)	12 (7.0)	16 (2.5)	2 (1.5)	37 (3.5)
Self-insured	4 (3.5)	9 (5.3)	44 (6.7)	11 (8.3)	68 (6.4)
None	18 (15.9)	23 (13.5)	60 (9.2)	11 (8.3)	112 (10.5)
Missing	0	0	1	1	2
Experienced					
infertility Noo	39 (36 8)	46 (27 7)	177 (28 3)	27 (20.6)	289 (28.1)
i es	67 (63.2)	120 (72.3)	449 (71.7)	104 (79.4)	740 (71.9)
No	7	5	29	3	44
A go at infortility		-		-	
Median years (IOR)	25 (22-29)	26 (24-29)	27 (23-30)	28 (26-31)	27 (23-30)

 Table 4-1. Characteristics of Participants by Four Category County Level of

 Urbanization

	Small	Small			
	town/ rural	metropolitan	Suburban	Urbanized	Total
	(n = 15)	(n = 24)	(n = 112)	(n = 20)	(n = 171)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Visited a doctor for					
help getting					
pregnant					
Yes	15 (13.3)	24 (14.0)	112 (17.1)	20 (14.9)	171 (15.9)
No	98 (86.7)	147 (86.0)	543 (82.9)	114 (85.1)	902 (84.1)
Age at visit ^a					
Median	27	29.5	30	30.5	30
(IQR)	(24, 30)	(27, 32)	(27, 34)	(27, 35)	(27, 33)
Type of doctor ^b					
General					
practitioner	1 (6.7)	5 (20.8)	14 (12.5)	2 (10.0)	22 (12.9)
Obstetrician/					
gynecologist	15 (100.0)	24 (100.0)	99 (88.4)	16 (80.0)	154 (90.1)
Fertility specialist	5 (33.3)	11 (45.8)	53 (47.3)	12 (60.0)	81 (47.4)
Acupuncturist/					
naturopath	1 (6.7)	1 (4.2)	15 (13.4)	3 (15.0)	20 (11.7)
Other	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (2.7)	0 (0.0)	3 (1.8)
Type of treatment ^c					
None	2 (13.3)	3 (12.5)	16 (14.3)	3 (15.0)	24 (14.0)
Testing only	1 (6.7)	4 (16.7)	27 (24.1)	6 (30.0)	38 (22.2)
Surgery	4 (26.7)	2 (8.3)	21 (18.8)	5 (25.0)	32 (18.7)
Medications	10 (66.7)	16 (66.7)	56 (50.0)	8 (40.0)	90 (52.6)
Insemination	3 (20.0)	4 (16.7)	26 (23.2)	5 (25.0)	38 (22.2)
IVF ^d	0 (0.0)	3 (12.5)	17 (15.2)	4 (20.0)	24 (14.0)

Table 4-2. Characteristics for Doctor Visits for Women Seeking Help in GettingPregnant by Four Category County Level of Urbanization

^aTwo women were missing age at visit.

^bWomen could report visiting more than one doctor.

^cNo treatment and testing only were mutually exclusive with the other categories of treatment, but women could report more than one treatment that involved surgery, medications, insemination, or IVF.

^din vitro fertilization (IVF) attempt, not success

Table 4-3. Crude and Adjusted Odds Ratios of the Association between SmallMetropolitan and Non-metropolitan vs. Large Metropolitan County Residence andVisiting a Doctor for Help Getting Pregnant

	Visited a doctor for help getting pregna								
	Unadjusted			I	Model 1 ^a			Model 2 ^b	
All Women	PR	R 95%CI PR 95%CI		6CI	PR	95%	6CI		
Large metropolitan	1.00	refei	rence	1.00	refei	rence	1.00	refer	ence
Small and non-metropolitan	0.82	0.59	1.14	0.91	0.65	1.28	0.95	0.68	1.33
Infertile women ^c									
Large metropolitan	1.00	refei	ence	1.00	refei	rence	1.00	refer	ence
Small and non-metropolitan	0.73	0.53	1.02	0.80	0.58	1.09	0.83	0.60	1.14
^a Adjusted for: education (less than college degree vs. college degree or greater), income (less									
than \$50k, \$50-100k, \$100k+), race (black, white, other)									
^b Adjusted for: covariates in mode	^b Adjusted for: covariates in model 1 + comfort with assisted reproductive technology (yes/no),								

comfort with adoption (yes/no), biologic child (important/unimportant), insurance status (private, public, self, none); models among infertile women also include age at infertility (20's, 30's, 40's)

^cModel 2 for infertile women uses modified Poisson model (all other models use log binomial regression)

	Visited a doctor for help getting pregnant								
	Ur	Unadjusted			Model 1	a	Model 2 ^b		
All Women	PR	95%CI		PR	95%CI		PR	95%	6CI
Urbanized	1.00	reference		1.00	reference		1.00	refei	ence
Suburban	1.15	0.74	1.78	1.16	0.75	1.80	1.14	0.74	1.75
Small metropolitan	0.94	0.54	1.63	1.05	0.60	1.81	1.04	0.60	1.80
Small town/rural	0.89	0.48	1.65	1.02	0.54	1.94	1.10	0.57	2.10
Infertile women ^c									
Urbanized	1.00	refei	ence	1.00	reference		1.00	refei	ence
Suburban	1.30	0.77	2.17	1.49	0.93	2.40	1.59	1.00	2.53
Small metropolitan	1.06	0.57	1.94	1.30	0.74	2.27	1.36	0.80	2.30
Small town/rural	0.76	0.38	1.54	0.90	0.45	1.78	1.09	0.55	2.17

Table 4-4. Crude and Adjusted Odds ratios of the Association Between FourCategory County Level of Urbanization and Visiting a Doctor for Help GettingPregnant

^a Adjusted for: education (less than college degree vs. college degree or greater), income (less than \$50k, \$50-100k, \$100k+), race (black, white, other)

^bAdjusted for: covariates in model 1 + comfort with assisted reproductive technology (yes/no), comfort with adoption (yes/no), biologic child (important/unimportant), insurance status (private, public, self, none); models among infertile women also include age at infertility (20's, 30's, 40's)

^cModel 2 for infertile women uses modified Poisson model (all other models use log binomial regression)

Figure 4-1. Four and Two Category Classification of Counties of Residence for FUCHSIA Participants Based on the NCHS Urban/Rural Classification Scheme

		N	/letropolitan		Non-metr	opolitan
	Large central metropolitan	Large fringe metropolitan	Medium metropolitan	Small metropolitan	Micropolitan	Noncore
Four-category	Urbanized	Suburban	Small metro	opolitan	Small tov	wn/rural
Two-category	Large me	etropolitan		Small and non- m		









CHAPTER 5: Assessing Urban-Rural Differences in Women's Use of Medical Help for Becoming Pregnant Using the National Survey for Family Growth

INTRODUCTION

The National Survey for Family Growth (NSFG) is a US based survey that is conducted in a nationally representative sample of individuals by the National Center for Health Statistics at the Center for Disease Control and Prevention. The NSFG was first conducted in 1973 to gather information on marriage, divorce, contraception, infertility, and the health of women and infants [26]. The survey is conducted in cycles with the last cycle of completed interviews taking place between 2006 and 2010 [26].

The National Survey for Family Growth (NSFG) reports statistics on impaired fecundity among all reproductive aged women and infertility among married women of reproductive age in the United States [1]. Impaired fecundity refers to a physical difficulty either getting pregnant or carrying a pregnancy to live birth. Infertility is defined as lack of pregnancy after 12 months of trying to get pregnant. The NSFG estimates that from 2006-2010 there were over 6 million women of reproductive age who reported having impaired fecundity [1]. During this same time period, it is estimated that 1.5 million married women of reproductive age experienced infertility [33]. This represents a significant public health problem since infertility is both a disease of the reproductive system and a quality of life issue [3].

Disparities in the prevalence of infertility and use of medical care for infertility have been assessed among women in the NSFG. Compared with white women, non-Hispanic black women were about 1.8 times more likely to have infertility [33]. Additionally, unmarried, less educated, younger, and minority women were less likely to use an infertility service for help getting pregnant [5]. Disparities in seeking medical care for help getting pregnant by geographic type of residence has not been explored in this dataset.

In *Chapter 4*, the overall association between the level of urbanization where a woman lives and seeking fertility care or counseling was assessed. This analysis was replicated in the 2006-2010 cycle of the NSFG to compare estimates obtained in the FUCHSIA Women's Study with national estimates.

METHODS

During the 2006-2010 cycle of the NSFG, a national sample of 22,682 men and women between the ages of 15-44 years were interviewed [26]. This study utilized women between the ages of 22 and 44 years who completed the survey. Data from these participants were obtained from the publicly available dataset from the National Center for Health Statistics.

Type of place of residence was defined based on the participants address at the time of the survey and the population based on the 2000 US Census. NSFG classifies type of place of residence as metropolitan statistical area (MSA) – central city, MSA – other, and not MSA. For this study, we collapsed these categories into a 2 level variable to examine women living in a metropolitan area (MSA) compared with women living in a non-metropolitan area. The three level original variable was also used in analysis, with MSA – central city referred to as urbanized, MSA – other referred to as suburban and small metropolitan, and not MSA referred to as small town/rural.

The outcome was defined based on the question "(During any of your relationships,) (have/did) you (or your husband/or your husband or partner at the time)

ever been to a doctor or other medical care provider to talk about ways to help you become pregnant?"

Information on characteristics of the participants included in our study was also obtained from the survey. Women who had fertility problems were identified as either sub-fecund or infertile. Sub-fecundity was measured in all participants and defined as a participant's inability to conceive or carry a baby to term. Infertility was measured only among participants who were married or cohabitating and was defined as 12 months of intercourse without contraception without getting pregnant. Based on the literature and a causal diagram for our study question, we determined race, education, and income were important confounders of the association between type of place of residence and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant.

Analyses were conducted using SAS-callable SUDAAN 11.0.1, and SAS 9.4 survey procedures. To account for the sampling strategy used to select participants in the overall survey, weights provided by the NSFG were incorporated in all analyses. Descriptive statistics of participant characteristics by type of geographic category were generated. Logistic regression models were fit to estimate a prevalence ratio (PR) for visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant for each of the geographic type of residence classification schemes.

Models were fit for the 1) total population, 2) subgroup of women who reported being sub-fecund, and 3) subgroup of women who reported being infertile. Subgroup analyses were conducted among women with sub-fecundity or infertility to assess the association between level of urbanization of county of residence and visiting a doctor to talk about ways to help women get pregnant among those most likely to need help.

73

Visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant among women living in metropolitan area was compared with women living in a non-metropolitan area. Similarly, the prevalence of visiting a doctor among participants from suburban and small metropolitan and small town/rural areas were each compared with visiting a doctor among participants from an urbanized area.

RESULTS

There were the 9,161 women included in our analysis with good representation across the demographic factors of interest (*Table 5-1*). Urbanized areas had the most racial diversity, small town and rural areas had the most women without at least some college education, and suburban and small metropolitan areas had the highest incomes and largest proportion of women privately insured. Table 5-2 shows the proportion of women who reported being sub-fecund or infertile. Reports of sub-fecundity were similar across types of place of residence, while reports of infertility were highest in urbanized counties.

Results from models comparing women living in a non-metropolitan area to women living in a metropolitan area showed null results for visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant overall and in subgroup analyses (*Table 5-3*). Using the three category classification there were differences between groups (*Table 5-4*). Women from suburban and small metropolitan areas as well as women from small town and rural areas were more likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant compared with women from urbanized areas (adjusted prevalence ratio, adj. PR = 1.30, 95% CI: 1.06, 1.60 and adj. PR = 1.24, 95% CI: 0.98, 1.57, respectively). In adjusted analyses for the subgroup of women who reported sub-fertility, these association became null. However, when restricted to women reporting infertility, women living in a suburban or small metropolitan area again had an increased likelihood receiving fertility care compared with women from urbanized areas (adj. PR = 1.26, 95% CI: 0.92, 1.72). Women from small town and rural areas were similar in their use of fertility care to women in urbanized areas.

DISCUSSION

Women in certain geographic areas are accessing care for help getting pregnant differently from others. In the NSFG, results from analyses in the subgroup of women with infertility were consistent with results from the FUCHSIA Women's Study (*Chapter* 4). Women from suburban and small metropolitan areas were most likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant compared with women from urbanized areas. Women from small town/rural counties had a similar prevalence of visiting a doctor compared with women from urbanized counties. Among the full sample however, both women from suburban/ small metropolitan and women from small town/ rural areas were more likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant compared with women living in an urbanized area. We did not observe this increased likelihood of visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant among women living in small town/rural areas in the FUCHSIA Women's Study. This may be due to differences in the study populations being assessed; the FUCHSIA Women's Study is contained within the state of Georgia, while the NSFG is US wide.

A limitation of this study includes the broad categories of type of place of residence in the publicly available dataset. Women from across the country were classified into only three groups which were likely heterogeneous. We were unable to distinguish women living in different states or different regions of the country. Women living in urban or rural locations in one part of the country may share a different set of characteristics compared with women living in another part of the country.

A strength of using the NSFG data is the large sample size and representativeness of women across the US. This study population includes women from various education levels, places of residence, and household income categories.

This study adds to the literature on disparities using NSFG data. Geographic differences in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant among women in NSFG suggests that disparities in accessing fertility care may be nationwide. Improved communication with women by their regular doctor as well as advocacy and support groups can improve women's knowledge of the many options available for medical help getting pregnant, which may increase use of infertility services in places it is currently less common.

	Type of place of residence							
	Small t	own &	Subur	ban &	Urba	nized	Total	
	Ru	ral	Sm	all				
	(1255)	metrop	politan	(2001)	((1.61)
	(n = .	1355)	(n = :	922)	(n = .	3891)	(n = y)	9161)
	nª	% ⁰	nª	% ⁰	nª	% ⁰	nª	% ⁰
Age at Interview								
22-29	528	35.3	1369	30.5	1740	43.7	3637	35.7
30-39	545	39.8	1759	45.6	1541	37.7	3845	41.9
40-44	280	24.9	790	23.9	609	18.6	1679	22.4
Missing	2		4		1			
Race								
Black	183	8.3	611	10.1	1148	24.4	1942	14.4
White	1032	79.2	2333	69.9	1860	54.3	5225	66.7
Other race	140	12.5	978	20.0	883	21.3	2001	18.9
Education								
High school and less	680	49.3	1566	36.3	1694	36.8	3940	39.0
Some college	402	30.0	1183	29.6	1109	27.5	2694	29.0
College graduate	207	15.2	837	24.5	798	26.7	1842	23.4
Graduate school	66	5.5	336	9.6	290	9.0	692	8.6
Income								
Less than \$50k	935	65.6	2264	50.0	2825	64.1	6024	57.6
\$50k - 75k	258	19.9	751	20.8	582	17.1	1591	19.4
\$75k+	162	14.5	907	29.2	484	18.8	1553	22.9
Insurance								
Private	745	56.8	2424	68.0	1997	58.9	5166	62.8
Public	260	15.9	659	12.5	994	20.2	1913	15.7
Other/none ^c	350	27.3	839	19.5	900	20.9	2089	21.5
^a Actual number of participants interviewed.								

Table 5-1. Characteristics of Female Participants 22-44 Years of Age in the NationalSurvey For Family Growth 2006-2010 Cycle

^bWeighted percents.

^cCurrently covered only by a single-service plan, only by the Indian Health Service, or currently not covered by health insurance

Type of place of residence								
	Small t	own &	Subur	Suburban &		nized	Total	
	Ru	ral	Sm	all				
			metrop	olitan				
	(n = 1	355)	(n = 3	(n = 3922)		3891)	(n = 9	9161)
	n ^a	% ^b						
Subfecund ^c								
Yes	141	10.5	420	10.5	419	10.5	980	10.5
No	1214	89.5	3502	89.5	3472	89.5	8188	89.5
Infertile ^d								
Yes	43	4.7	165	5.7	125	7.3	333	6.0
No	793	95.3	2180	94.3	1746	92.7	4719	94.0

Table 5-2. Women Reporting Subfecundity and Infertility Among Participants 22-44 Years of Age in the 2006-2010 National Survey for Family Growth

^aActual number of participants interviewed.

^bWeighted percents.

^cSubfected defined as difficulty conceiving or delivering a(nother) baby or 36 months with the same partner without using contraception and no months of non-intercourse and not getting pregnant.

^dInfertile was measured only in married or cohabitating women as 12 or more months of intercourse without pregnancy and without contraception.

Table 5-3. Crude and Adjusted Prevalence Ratios of the Association BetweenMetropolitan and Non-metropolitan Residence and Visiting a Doctor for HelpGetting Pregnant Among Participants 22-44 Years of Age in the 2006-2010 NationalSurvey for Family Growth

	Visited a doctor for help getting pregnant								
	Un	adjusted	A	djusted ^a					
All Women	PR	95%CI	PR	95%CI					
Metropolitan	1.00	reference	1.00	reference					
Non-metropolitan	0.95	0.76 1.18	1.04	0.85 1.27					
Subfecund women ^b									
Metropolitan	1.00	reference	1.00	reference					
Non-metropolitan	0.93	0.67 1.30	1.02	0.76 1.39					
Infertile women ^c									
Metropolitan	1.00	reference	1.00	reference					
Non-metropolitan	0.95	0.57 1.59	0.96	0.63 1.47					

^a Adjusted for confounders: education (less than college degree vs college degree or greater), income (less than \$50k, \$50-75k, \$75k+), race (black, white, other) ^bSubfecund defined as difficulty conceiving or delivering a(nother) baby or 36 months with the same partner without using contraception and no months of non-intercourse and not getting pregnant.

^cInfertile was measured only in married or cohabitating women as 12 or more months of intercourse without pregnancy and without contraception.

Table 5-4: Crude and Adjusted Prevalence Ratios of the Association Between ThreeLevel Type of Place of Residence and Visiting a Doctor for Help Getting PregnantAmong Participants 22-44 Years of Age in the 2006-2010 National Survey forFamily Growth

	Visited a doctor for help getting pregnant							
	Un	Unadjusted		Adjusted ^a				
All Women	PR	95%CI	PR	95%CI				
Urbanized	1.00	reference	1.00	refe	erence			
Suburban/small metropolitan	1.48	1.21 1.80	1.30	1.06	1.60			
Small town/rural	1.22	0.96 1.55	1.24	0.98	1.57			
Subfertile women ^b								
Urbanized	1.00	reference	1.00	reference				
Suburban/small metropolitan	1.22	0.94 1.57	1.05	0.83	1.34			
Small town/rural	1.05	0.73 1.53	1.06	0.76	1.48			
Infertile women ^c								
Urbanized	1.00	reference	1.00	reference				
Suburban/small metropolitan	1.41	0.99 2.01	1.26	0.92	1.72			
Small town/rural	1.18	0.67 2.09	1.12	0.70	1.78			

^a Adjusted for confounders: education (less than college degree vs college degree or greater), income (less than \$50k, \$50-100k, \$100k+), race (black, white, other) ^bSubfecund defined as difficulty conceiving or delivering a(nother) baby or 36 months with the same partner without using contraception and no months of non-intercourse and not getting pregnant.

^cInfertile was measured only in married or cohabitating women as 12 or more months of intercourse without pregnancy and without contraception.

CHAPTER 6: Characteristics Associated with the Receipt of Fertility Counseling Among a Cohort of Female Cancer Survivors

ABSTRACT

Objective: The goal of this study was to assess which characteristics are associated with receipt of fertility counseling among a cohort of young women diagnosed with cancer.

Methods: Using a large population-based registry sample we examined differences in fertility counseling by overall sociodemographic factors, factors that might influence a patient initiated discussion, and factors that might influence a healthcare provider initiated discussion. Counseling by cancer type was also assessed. Logistic regression models were fit and results from bivariate and multivariable models were used to determine the most influential variables associated with the likelihood of receiving counseling.

Results: Overall, approximately 40% of cancer survivors in our study reported that they did not receive fertility counseling at the time of their cancer diagnosis. Women were less likely to be counseled if they had no college education (OR = 0.52, 95% CI: 0.27, 1.01). Women who were nulliparous at diagnosis were more likely to be counseled (OR = 1.92, 95% CI: 1.31, 2.82). Among the variables assess directly related to cancer diagnosis, receipt of chemotherapy compared with no chemotherapy and diagnosis with a reproductive cancer compared with "other" cancers were associated with being counseled (OR = 4.33, 95% CI: 2.93, 6.41 and OR = 8.52, 95% CI: 3.98, 18.24, respectively).

Conclusion: For women diagnosed with cancer, treatment that improves survival is a priority, but addressing survivorship issues is also important. Providing fertility counseling at diagnosis allows women to assess how cancer treatment might affect their

fertility, and for some women, provides the opportunity to use fertility preservation for the chance of children after cancer.

INTRODUCTION

Many women of reproductive age are diagnosed with cancer each year. According to the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) statistics for 2010 the age adjusted incidence rate of cancer in women between the ages of 20-49 was 187 per 100,000 [46]. Advances in cancer treatment over the past few decades have led to improved outcomes after cancer diagnosis. With increased survival after cancer, there is a greater need to address survivorship issues, especially regarding fertility in young female cancer survivors.

Women who are diagnosed with cancer are often treated with potentially gonadotoxic treatments which may put them at risk for infertility by affecting the reproductive system and reducing ovarian function. [48, 133, 134]. Chemotherapy with alkylating agents and radiation to the pelvis, abdomen, brain, or total body can compromise future fertility [64]. Registry-based studies have found decreased rates of childbearing and increased probabilities of childlessness among female cancer survivors [54-56].

Since many cancer treatments have the potential to affect future fertility, there are universal recommendations that all cancer patients receive information about how cancer treatment could affect fertility and about fertility preservation options. Since 2005, the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM) and the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) have recommended doctors have these discussions with all their patients of reproductive age as early as possible [8-10]. These recommendations extend to providing women who express an interest in fertility preservation or are ambivalent towards this option with a referral to a fertility specialist for further discussion [8].

In a survey of oncologists however, only 14% reported always, or almost always giving educational materials about fertility preservation to their patients [12]. When patients were asked about their experiences with fertility counseling at cancer diagnosis, only 14% of women reported being encouraged to talk to a fertility specialist [78]. Most of the time, the discussion about how cancer treatment could affect fertility and reproductive health is physician initiated, highlighting the importance of oncologists communicating this information [78]. Women diagnosed with certain cancers, such as those that are hormone dependent, may especially need fertility counseling because they may experience decreased ovarian reserve even before cancer treatment begins [135, 136].

Patient characteristics can affect whether or not they receive counseling. The physician's perception of a patient's ability to afford fertility treatment or desire to have a child or more children can influence their decision to provide fertility counseling. Women with lower education, older age at diagnosis, and women who had children before diagnosis have been found to be less likely to be counseled about the fertility-related issues that could arise due to cancer treatment [25]. In studies of referral to a specialist for a fertility preservation consultation, authors found white, younger, and nulliparous women were more likely to receive a referral [13, 137]. Cancer type also influenced receipt of referral, with breast cancer and lymphoma survivors most likely to

be referred. Cancer stage can also impact referral patterns, with poorer prognosis associated with a lower likelihood of referral [14].

The current literature provides some information about which women are receiving fertility counseling from the healthcare providers treating their cancer; yet gaps in identifying the factors most strongly associated with getting counseled remain. Some of the literature is among non-US populations where the healthcare system may not be comparable. Other studies suffer from small sample size and lack of diversity across demographic factors. Additionally, most studies restrict to a few cancer types, so some cancer types are not represented in the literature.

Loss of fertility has been reported to be almost as important to reproductive aged women diagnosed with cancer as concerns about survival [6, 77]. Women report better quality of life and less distress if they received fertility counseling [138, 139]. An appreciation for fertility counseling at diagnosis was found regardless of whether a woman used a fertility preservation method or not [140]. Even among women for whom fertility preservation is not an option, fertility counseling provides an opportunity to process the potential loss of fertility after cancer treatment [11].

In this study we assessed which characteristics of young women diagnosed with cancer are associated with receiving fertility counseling. Using a large population-based registry sample, we examined differences in counseling by overall sociodemographic factors, factors that might influence a patient initiated discussion, and factors that might influence a healthcare provider initiated discussion. We also looked differences in the proportion of women counseled by cancer type.

86

METHODS

The Furthering Understanding of Cancer Health and Survivorship in Adult (FUCHSIA) Women's Study is a population-based cohort study designed to examine how cancer treatment during the reproductive years affects future fertility. Women were eligible to participate in the main study if they were diagnosed with an invasive cancer (excluding non-melanoma skin cancer) or ductal carcinoma in situ, were at least 2 years post diagnosis at recruitment, were of reproductive age (22-45 years old) at recruitment, had a working telephone, and spoke English. Additionally, for this study, women who had a hysterectomy or both ovaries removed at the time of cancer diagnosis were excluded. These further exclusions limited the study population to only women who could become pregnant at the time of the cancer diagnosis.

Eligible cancer survivors were identified and contacted by the Georgia Cancer Registry (GCR) who shared information about the FUCHSIA Women's Study with potential participants. Women who agreed that the study could contact them were invited to complete a computer-assisted telephone interview. The interview collected information about cancer diagnoses and treatments, medical conditions, experience with infertility, pregnancy history, desire for children, reproductive goals, and demographic and lifestyle factors [93]. In addition to information collected via interview, we obtained data on age at diagnosis, cancer type, stage, and first course of treatment from the GCR. Women consented to participate in the study orally at the time of the interview. The Emory University and the Georgia Department of Health Institutional Review Boards approved this study. The outcome for this study was defined based on the question "Did you talk to a doctor or other health professional about how this cancer treatment could affect your ability to become pregnant?" Follow up questions collected information on who initiated the discussion and if they were referred to a fertility specialist to discuss fertility preservation. We used these questions to identify women being counseled and referred to specialists in accordance with the ASRM and ASCO guidelines.

Three categories of factors that might influence whether or not a woman received fertility counseling at the time of diagnosis were assessed. There was some overlap across categories as depicted in Figure 6-1. First, we examined sociodemographic characteristics that might affect a woman's inclination and ability to pursue fertility preservation. These factors included race, education, income, and insurance status, as well as age, relationship status, and place of residence at the time of diagnosis. Education, income, and insurance status assessed at the time of the interview served as proxies for these factors at the time of diagnosis.

Second, we looked at factors that might influence a woman's decision to initiate a discussion with her doctor about how treatment could affect her future fertility at the time of cancer diagnosis. These factors included parity, desire for future children, and comfort with assisted reproductive technology. It was hypothesized that women with prior obstetric or gynecologic problems might be more likely to initiate a conversation. Reproductive conditions considered included fibroids, endometriosis, polycystic ovary syndrome, amenorrhea, and surgery to the uterus, ovaries, or fallopian tubes. Sexually transmitted infections examined included chlamydia, gonorrhea, pelvic inflammatory disease, human papilloma virus, and herpes. Pregnancy at the time of diagnosis and

history of miscarriage, stillbirth, induced abortion, ectopic pregnancy, low birth weight or preterm birth were also assessed.

Lastly, factors that might affect a healthcare providers initiating fertility counseling with a patient were examined. Patient characteristics that may influence physician initiated counseling included comorbidities (hypertension, diabetes), smoking status, and obesity. Characteristics of the cancer diagnosis, such as treatment modality and type might also influence the oncologist providing counseling. Treatment with chemotherapy and radiation was obtained through self-report in the interview. Cancer type was obtained from the GCR and grouped as breast, reproductive (uterine, cervical, and ovarian), Hodgkin's lymphoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, brain, thyroid, and other cancer types. Cancers were grouped in this way because of their effects on the reproductive system directly, through radiation to the pelvic region, or by disrupting hormone function.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated for all of the sociodemographic, patient, and physician factors by whether or not women were counseled. Patients who went on to receive a referral were also characterized. We fit descriptive models to assess which factors were most strongly associated with receiving fertility counseling at the time of cancer diagnosis, starting with bivariate logistic models for each of the factors hypothesized to influence receipt of counseling. Next, fully adjusted multivariable models were fit for each of the three categories of factors.

All of the factors hypothesized were considered important predictors of the outcome conceptually. However, results from the bivariate and fully adjusted

89

multivariable models were used to determine the most influential variables in determining the likelihood of receiving counseling. Three considerations were taken into account during variable selection: magnitude of effect, precision of the estimate, and statistical significance of the estimate at p<0.10.

In our study, women diagnosed with melanoma and thyroid cancer were recruited from the major metropolitan center of the state, because women with these cancers are least likely to receive chemotherapy and radiation as part of their cancer treatment. Women diagnosed with other cancer types were recruited statewide. Because of this recruitment design thyroid and melanoma survivors have a different demographic representation from the other survivors recruited from the entire state. Therefore, we performed secondary analyses in which thyroid and melanoma survivors were excluded. RESULTS

There were a total of 1,282 cancer survivors in the FUCHSIA Women's Study. We excluded women who had a hysterectomy or both ovaries removed before cancer diagnosis (n = 153) and women who had missing information on the outcome (n = 13) leaving 1,116 women in the analysis. For the analyses that excluded cancer survivors with a diagnosis of thyroid cancer (n = 123) and melanoma (n = 102) the sample size was 892 women. Overall, 59% of women in our study were counseled on how cancer treatment could affect their ability to become pregnant. Approximately 40% of discussions were initiated by the oncologist and the same proportion by the patient.

Demographic characteristics of participants stratified by counseling are presented in Table 6-1. Women were well distributed across the sociodemographic characteristics examined. Among nulliparous women 64% were counseled compared with 54% of women who had at least one child and 65% women who reported having fewer children than desired were counseled compared with 52% who did not report wanting more children at the time of the interview (*Figure 6-2*). Among the physician influencing characteristics examined, approximately half of study participants were diagnosed between the ages of 30-35 years old and most survivors were diagnosed after 2000. The largest cancer group were breast cancer survivors (n=393), and the most likely cancer type to be counseled was Hodgkin lymphoma (*Figure 6-3*).

The unadjusted estimates for each of the characteristics examined are presented in Supplemental Tables 6-(A-C). Among the sociodemographic characteristics, higher education, private insurance, being married or living with a partner at the time of diagnosis, and living in a small metropolitan area were all associated with receiving counseling. Among the patient characteristics, reproductive history, certain STIs, and reproductive surgeries also influenced counseling. Women were more likely to receive counseling if they were nulliparous compared with women who had a child (OR = 1.56, 95% CI: 1.23, 1.98) or had a human papilloma virus (HPV) infection compared with those who did not (OR = 1.61, 95% CI: 1.05, 2.47). Women were less likely to receive counseling if they had surgery on their fallopian tubes, which was most commonly for birth control, compared with women who did not (OR = 0.47, 95% CI: 0.31, 0.73), had a preterm birth compared with women who did not (OR = 0.59, 95% CI: 0.42, 0.85), or had a low birth weight birth compared to those who did not (OR = 0.64, 95% CI: 0.41, 1.02).

Among characteristics that might influence a physician to counsel, treatment modality and cancer type were associated with receipt of fertility counseling. Crude 91

estimates for chemotherapy and radiation show that women who received these treatments were more likely to receive counseling, especially those who receive chemotherapy (OR = 3.93, 95% CI: 3.05, 5.06). Year of diagnosis was not associated with receipt of counseling. In analyses excluding women diagnosed with thyroid cancer or melanoma, similar associations were observed across the three categories of variables with slightly stronger associations than the full sample for some variables (*Supplemental Tables 6-(D-F)*).

Adjusted estimates are presented in Table 6-2. Model 1 included all variables identified as important from all three groups of factors considered. Being unmarried and not cohabitating and having surgery on the fallopian tubes remained strongly associated with not receiving fertility counseling (OR = 0.52, 95% CI: 0.37, 0.73 and OR = 0.46, 95% CI: 0.27, 0.78, respectively). Having fewer children than desired (OR = 1.61, 95% CI: 1.19, 2.17), receiving chemotherapy as part of treatment (OR = 4.33, 95% CI: 2.93, 6.41), and diagnosis with a reproductive, breast, Hodgkin lymphoma, and thyroid cancer compared with other cancer types were associated with a greater probability of receiving counseling. Women diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma were less likely to receive counseling compared with other cancers. Model 2 includes only those factors that were considered to influence the physician in initiating counseling. In this model education, relationship status, parity, chemotherapy, and cancer type remained strongly associated with receipt of counseling.

Information on stage of cancer was missing for many participants. We examined the association between cancer stage and fertility counseling among breast cancer survivors, our largest cancer group that also had almost complete information on stage (*Supplemental Table 6-G*). Diagnosis with stage 0 breast cancer (the only cancer type where stage 0 was included) was associated with a decreased probability of counseling and stage 4 cancer an increased probability of counseling compared with stage 1. Counseling among survivors of a stage 2 or 3 cancer was similar to stage 1. Although 59% of cancer survivors (n=660) reported receiving fertility counseling, only 13% of those participants received a referral to a fertility specialist. This included 44 breast cancer survivors, 15 Hodgkin lymphoma survivors, and 26 survivors of all the other cancer types combined.

DISCUSSION

All women should be counseled on how cancer treatment might affect their future fertility. In our study, 40% of cancer survivors reported not receiving information on how cancer treatment could affect their future fertility. Further, only 13% of women who received counseling were referred to a fertility specialist to discuss fertility preservation options. Although many women who received counseling in our study initiated a conversation about their fertility concerns with regard to cancer treatment, the importance of a healthcare provider initiated conversation should not be overlooked. Other studies have found that most women do not bring up their interest in fertility preservation unless prompted [9].

In all analyses, having no college education was associated with a reduced likelihood of fertility counseling. The association between less education and not being counseled highlights an opportunity to improve counseling techniques. Women with a high school degree or less may not be reporting that they received counseling for many reasons. One reason is that they actually never received any information on how cancer treatment could affect their fertility. An alternative reason is that these women were not counseled appropriately. Women with less education may not be as medically literate about fertility treatment and preservation options available and counseling for these women should be sensitive to this. Relationship status was another factor associated with counseling. Women with a partner. Single women may be less likely to be counseled compared with women with a partner. Single women may be less likely to bring up a conversation about fertility preservation because they are not currently planning for a family, but they may still want the opportunity to have children in the future. These cases underscore the importance of a physician initiated discussion.

Several patient factors were associated with receiving counseling. Women who were nulliparous or had a desire for more children at the time of diagnosis were more likely to get counseled about fertility compared with women who had children or did not want any more. Although this is promising, only 65% of women who wanted children in the future were counseled and only 54% of women without children were counseled. Additionally, women who already have children may want more children after cancer, but are less likely to be counseled, which may prevent them from fulfilling their reproductive goals. Women diagnosed with HPV before diagnosis were more likely to receive fertility counseling. It is possible that these women were more aware of fertility issues because of their experience with HPV and were more likely to initiate a conversation. It is also possible that they were more likely to have a healthcare provider initiated conversation because they developed a reproductive cancer, although only 17% of women diagnosed with HPV later went on to develop cervical cancer. Most of the women who had surgery on their fallopian tubes had their tubes tied as birth control, and they were the least likely to receive fertility counseling. Many of these women may have not been interested in fertility preservation options, but still could benefit from learning about how cancer treatment could affect their reproductive health, including possible early menopause.

Of the physician factors examined, treatment with chemotherapy and certain cancer types were associated with receipt of counseling. Being diagnosed with a reproductive cancer was the most strongly associated with receiving counseling of all the cancer types examined. It may be that in discussing these types of cancers and their treatment a direct connection with fertility is made. Although counseling in this group of cancer survivors is high, close to 20% of women diagnosed with a reproductive cancer reported that they did not receive fertility counseling. Diagnosis with non-Hodgkin lymphoma was associated with a decreased likelihood of receiving counseling compared with women diagnosed with all other cancers. These women are often treated with alkylating agents which are known to affect ovarian function, and could benefit from fertility preservation [141].

Our analyses excluding thyroid and melanoma patients showed stronger associations for some variables we examined, confirming that including these two groups masked some of the associations between the factors we considered and receipt of fertility counseling. When we excluded women diagnosed with melanoma, black women were less likely to receive counseling, however, this association disappeared in adjusted analyses suggesting that other factors were driving this difference. Also of note was that the association between type of place of residence became weaker, which was expected because thyroid and melanoma cancer survivors were the least likely to receive potentially gonadotoxic treatment and were exclusively recruited by the FUCHSIA Women's Study from the metropolitan area.

A limitation of this study is that our outcome is based on patient recall. Being diagnosed with cancer is a stressful time in a woman's life and information provided by the oncologist at and around the time of diagnosis may not be recalled by survivors. Some groups of women, such as women who completed their family size, less educated women, and women who were using a permanent birth control method, may be less likely to remember receiving counseling because they did not think that information was relevant to them, however we could not measure this. Also unmeasured was the quality of the counseling. Among women who received counseling, some may not have gotten all the information they needed to make informed decisions about fertility preservation. Lastly, some of our demographic variables including education, income, and insurance were measured at the time of the interview. We used current status of these variables as proxies for at the time of diagnosis, but there could be misclassification, especially for women diagnosed many years before the interview.

A strength of this study is that it included all cancers. This enabled us to see differences in receipt of counseling across cancer types. Some cancers were more strongly associated with getting counseled than others. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma survivors were least likely to be counseled. Because our study included women
diagnosed over several decades, we could compare counseling and referral before and after the guidelines for universal counseling by ASRM in 2005 and ASCO in 2006. When we looked at counseling and referral however, we did not see much increase in more recent years. Often the need for fertility counseling is based on whether or not women already had children at the time of cancer diagnosis. In our study we were able to look at the unique outcome of having fewer children than desired which captures women who have not yet reached their desired family size, regardless of parity.

There are many reasons cited as to why some women do not receive fertility counseling. Concerns about delay in treatment and risk of recurrence result in some women not receiving fertility counseling, but many of these concerns are not evidencebased. Early referral and accelerated ovarian stimulation protocols allow some women to take advantage of a window of opportunity between early treatment that does not affect fertility (e.g., some surgeries) and the start of potentially gonadotoxic treatment regimens [65, 142, 143]. However, women need to be counseled and referred to a specialist early and before treatment with potentially gonadotoxic regimens to take advantage of this opportunity. Women with hormone responsive cancers are sometimes advised not to become pregnant because of concern of increased risk of cancer recurrence [57]. However, there have been several recent studies that show no increased risk of recurrence in women who use in vitro fertilization to become pregnant after cancer [58-60, 144]. Lastly, some women are not counseled because they are not candidates for embryo cryopreservation. Until recently, embryo cryopreservation was the only non-experimental fertility preservation option for women, but now oocyte or egg freezing is no longer

considered experimental, so women who do not have partners and do not want to use donor sperm have preservation options available to them [145].

While life-saving cancer treatment is the priority at the time of diagnosis, survivorship issues should not be ignored. In our study, women with less education, who were unmarried, or already had a child were less likely to receive counseling suggesting that these characteristics make the healthcare provider, cancer patient, or both less likely to initiate a discussion about future fertility. An encouraging result from our study was that women with fewer children than desired were more likely to receive counseling than those who did not desire future children, and many of the other factors we examined showed no differences in receipt of counseling. However, the overall proportion of women offered fertility counseling at the time of diagnosis was inadequate at only 59%. For some women a well-coordinated cancer treatment and fertility preservation strategy at the time of diagnosis may allow them to have the children they want in the future without compromising their treatment plan.

	Received Fertility Counseling						
	(n	Yes =660)	No (n=4	56)			
	n	%	n	%	p value		
Age at diagnosis (years)							
20-24	96	58.9	67	41.1	0.99		
25-29	209	58.9	146	41.1			
30-35	355	59.4	243	40.6			
Race							
White	463	59.4	317	40.6	0.81		
Black	165	58.1	119	41.9			
Other race	32	62.8	19	37.3			
Missing			1				
Education ^a							
High school or less	26	37.1	44	62.9	< 0.01		
Some college	175	61.0	112	39.0			
College graduate	247	59.5	168	40.5			
At least some graduate school	212	61.8	131	38.2			
Missing			1				
Income ^b							
Less than or equal to \$50k	208	55.2	169	44.8	0.13		
\$50k - 100k	242	61.7	150	38.3			
\$100k+	199	61.0	127	39.0			
Missing	11		10				
Insurance ^c							
Private	516	61.4	325	38.6	0.02		
Self	35	61.4	22	38.6			
Public	59	53.2	52	46.9			
None	49	46.7	56	53.3			
Missing	1		1				
Married or cohabitating at time of							
diagnosis							
Yes	463	62.2	282	37.9	< 0.01		
No	197	53.1	174	46.9			
Type of place of residence at diagnosis ^d							
Urbanized	100	55.3	81	44.8	0.07		
Suburban	367	57.3	273	42.7			
Small metropolitan	131	66.2	67	33.8			

Table 6-1. Demographic Characteristics of Cancer Survivors by Whether or NotThey Received Fertility Counseling

Small town/rural	62	63.9	35	36.1						
^a Current education at the time of the interview.										
^b Current income at the time of the interview.										
^c Private insurance includes employer, scho	^o Private insurance includes employer, school, military or VA insurance; self includes COBRA,									
public includes Medicare and Medicaid.										
^d Type of place of residence based on a mo	odified v	ersion of the	NCHS urba	n rural categories.						

	$\frac{\text{Model 1}}{1}$			Model 2		
	aOR	95% CI	p value	aOR	95% CI	p value
Age at diagnosis (years)						
20-24	0.93	0.73, 1.18	0.56	0.95	0.76, 1.18	0.62
25-29	R	eference		Re	ference	
30-35	1.07	0.85, 1.37		1.06	0.85, 1.32	
Race						
White	R	eference	0.98	Re	ference	0.89
Black	1.04	0.72, 1.49		0.99	0.71, 1.39	
Other race	0.99	0.48, 2.05		1.17	0.60, 2.29	
Missing						
Education ^a						
High school or less	0.52	0.27, 1.01	0.20	0.41	0.22, 0.77	0.05
Some college	0.95	0.64, 1.41		0.94	0.65, 1.36	
College graduate	R	eference		Re	ference	
At least some graduate school	0.81	0.57, 1.16		0.92	0.66, 1.28	
Missing						
Insurance ^b						
Private	R	eference	0.46	Re	ference	0.58
Self	0.88	0.45, 1.71		0.94	0.50, 1.77	
Public	0.87	0.51, 1.47		0.90	0.55, 1.48	
None	0.65	0.38, 1.11		0.70	0.43, 1.15	
Missing						
Married or cohabitating at						
time of diagnosis						
Yes	R	eference	<0.01	Re	ference	<0.01
No	0.52	0.37, 0.73		0.52	0.37, 0.72	
Place of residence at						
diagnosis ^e						
Large central	0.90	0.60, 1.35	0.52	0.82	0.56, 1.21	0.15
Large fringe	R	eference		Re	ference	
Small metropolitan	1.28	0.84, 1.94		1.41	0.95, 2.10	
Non-metropolitan	1.22	0.70, 2.14		1.30	0.77, 2.18	
Given birth to at least one child at diagnosis						
Yes	R	eference	<0.01	Re	ference	<0.01
NT -	1.92	1 31 2 82		2 53	181354	

Table 6-2. Adjusted Odds Ratios for Characteristics of Cancer Survivors and Receipt of Fertility Counseling

Fewer children than desired at time of interview ^d						
Yes	1.61	1.19, 2.17	<0.01			
No	R	eference				
Missing						
Human Papilloma Virus						
before diagnosis						
Yes	1.46	0.86, 2.46	0.16			
No	R	eference				
Missing						
Surgery on fallopian tubes before diagnosis ^e						
Yes	0.46	0.27, 0.78	<0.01			
No	R	eference				
Missing						
Low birth weight or preterm birth before dx ^f						
Yes	0.86	0.56, 1.32	0.48			
No	R	eference				
Missing						
Chemotherapy ^g						
Yes	4.33	2.93, 6.41	<0.01	4.13	2.87, 5.95	<0.01
No	R	eference		Reference		
Radiation ^h						
Yes	1.13	0.81, 1.58	0.47	1.21	0.88, 1.66	0.24
No	R	eference		Re	ference	
Cancer types						
Reproductive (cervix, ovary,						
uterus)	8.52	3.98, 18.24	<0.01	8.63	4.23, 17.6	<0.01
Breast	2.63	1.73, 3.97	<0.01	2.49	1.68, 3.68	<0.01
Brain	1.45	0.56, 3.73	0.44	1.99	0.82, 4.83	0.13
Hodgkin lymphoma	3.67	1.93, 6.98	<0.01	3.50	1.92, 6.40	<0.01
Non-hodgkin lymphoma	0.44	0.19, 1.01	0.05	0.40	0.18, 0.87	0.02
Thyroid	3.81	2.23, 6.53	<0.01	3.52	2.12, 5.84	<0.01
Other cancer type	R	eference		Re	ference	

^aCurrent education at the time of the interview.

^bPrivate insurance includes employer, school, military or VA insurance; self includes COBRA, public includes Medicare and Medicaid.

^cType of place of residence based on a modified version of the NCHS urban rural categories. ^dFewer kids defined by subtracting the number of children a woman had from the number of children she desired at the time of the interview.

^eSurgery on fallopian tubes includes getting tubes tied for birth control.

^fPreterm birth defined as a live birth less than 37 weeks. Low birth weight defined as a live birth less than 2500 grams. "No" includes nulliparous women.

^gChemotherapy as self-reported in the interview. ^hRadiation as self-reported in the interview.

	<u>Recei</u>	ved Fertil	lity Cour	nseling			
	Y (n=	es 660)	N (n=	No 456)			
	n	%	n	%	OR	95% CI	p value
Age at diagnosis (years)							
20-24	96	58.9	67	41.1	1.00	0.69, 1.46	0.99
25-29	209	58.9	146	41.1	R	eference	
30-35	355	59.4	243	40.6	1.02	0.78, 1.33	
Race							
White	463	59.4	317	40.6	R	eference	0.81
Black	165	58.1	119	41.9	0.95	0.72, 1.25	
Other race	32	62.8	19	37.3	1.15	0.64, 2.07	
Missing			1				
Education ^a							
High school or less	26	37.1	44	62.9	0.40	0.24, 0.68	<0.01
Some college	175	61.0	112	39.0	1.06	0.78, 1.45	
College graduate At least some graduate	247	59.5	168	40.5	R	Reference	
school	212	61.8	131	38.2	1.10	0.82, 1.48	
Missing			1				
Income ^b							
Less than or equal to \$50k	208	55.2	169	44.8	0.79	0.58, 1.06	0.13
\$50k - 100k	242	61.7	150	38.3	1.03	0.76, 1.39	
\$100k+	199	61.0	127	39.0	R	eference	
Missing	11		10				
Insurance ^c							
Private	516	61.4	325	38.6	R	eference	
Self	35	61.4	22	38.6	1.00	0.58, 1.74	0.02
Public	59	53.2	52	46.9	0.72	0.48, 1.06	
None	49	46.7	56	53.3	0.55	0.37, 0.83	
Missing	1		1				
Married or cohabitating at time of diagnosis							
Yes	463	62.2	282	37.9	R	eference	
No	197	53.1	174	46.9	0.69	0.54, 0.89	<0.01
Place of residence at diagnosis ^d							
Large central	100	55.3	81	44.8	0.92	0.66, 1.28	0.08

Supplemental Table 6-A: Bivariate Associations Between Sociodemographic Characteristics of Cancer Survivors and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (All Cancers)

Large fringe	367	57.3	273	42.7	R	eference
Small metropolitan	131	66.2	67	33.8	1.45	1.04, 2.03
Non-metropolitan	62	63.9	35	36.1	1.32	0.85, 2.05
^a Current education at the t	ime of the ir	nterview.				
^b Current income at the tim	e of the inte	rview.				
^c Private insurance include	s employer,	school, n	nilitary o	r VA ins	urance;	self includes COBRA,
public includes Medicare	and Medicai	d.				

^dType of place of residence based on a modified version of the NCHS urban rural categories.

	Recei	ved Fertil	lity Cour	nseling			
	Y	es	N	lo			
	(n=	660)	(n=4	456)			
	n	%	n	%	OR	95% CI	p value
Given birth to at least one child at diagnosis							
Yes	286	53.6	248	46.4	R	eference	
No	374	64.3	208	35.7	1.56	1.23, 1.98	<0.01
Fewer children than desired at time of interview ^a							
Yes	396	64.6	217	35.4	1.68	1.32, 2.14	<0.01
No	254	52.0	234	48.0	R	eference	
Missing	10		5				
Comfortable with ART ^b							
Strongly agree	82	63.1	48	36.9	1.23	0.72, 2.10	0.39
Agree	192	62.5	115	37.5	1.20	0.76, 1.91	
Neither agree nor disagree	57	58.2	41	41.8	R	eference	
Disagree	194	57.1	146	42.9	0.96	0.61, 1.51	
Strongly disagree	129	55.6	103	44.4	0.90	0.56, 1.45	
Missing	6		3				
Polycystic ovary syndrome before diagnosis							
Yes	34	65.4	18	34.6	1.33	0.74, 2.38	0.34
No	619	58.7	435	41.3	R	eference	
Missing	7		3				
Endometriosis before diagnosis							
Yes	39	52.7	35	47.3	0.76	0.47, 1.22	0.25
No	619	59.5	421	40.5	R	eference	
Missing	2						
Fibroids before diagnosis							
Yes	42	61.8	26	38.2	1.13	0.68, 1.87	0.64
No	614	58.9	428	41.1	R	eference	
Missing	4		2				
Chlamydia before diagnosis							
Yes	51	54.3	43	45.7	0.80	0.53, 1.23	0.31
No	609	59.7	412	40.4	R	eference	

Supplemental Table 6-B: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer Survivors That Might Influence Initiating a Discussion About Fertility Counseling and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (All Cancers)

Missing Gonorrhea before			1			
diagnosis						
Yes	12	48.0	13	52.0	0.63 0.29, 1.40	0.26
No	648	59.4	443	40.6	Reference	
Pelvic Inflammatory						
Disease before diagnosis						
Yes	18	58.1	13	41.9	0.96 0.46, 1.97	0.90
No	641	59.2	442	40.8	Reference	
Missing	1		1			
Human Papilloma Virus before diagnosis						
Yes	74	69 2	33	30.8	161 105 247	0.03
No	585	58.2	420	41.8	Reference	0.00
Missing	1	00.2	3	1110	iterenere	
Hernes before diagnosis	1		2			
Yes	26	59.1	18	40.9	1.00 0.54, 1.84	0.99
No	634	59.1	438	40.9	Reference	
Surgery on ovaries before diagnosis						
Yes	38	57.6	28	42.4	0.93 0.56, 1.54	0.77
No	564	59.4	386	40.6	Reference	
Missing	58		42			
Surgery on fallopian tubes before diagnosis ^c						
Yes	38	42.2	52	57.8	0.47 0.31, 0.73	<0.01
No	610	60.6	396	39.4	Reference	
Missing	12		8			
Surgery on uterus before diagnosis						
Yes	15	62.5	9	37.5	1.16 0.51, 2.68	0.72
No	637	58.9	445	41.1	Reference	
Missing	8		2			
History of amenorrhea before diagnosis ^d						
Yes	112	63.6	64	36.4	1.24 0.89, 1.74	0.21
No	500	58.5	355	41.5	Reference	
Missing	48		37			
Pregnant at diagnosis						
Yes	30	66.7	15	33.3	1.40 0.74, 2.63	0.30
No	630	58.8	441	41.2	Reference	
Miscarriage before diagnosis						

Yes	112	59.0	78	41.1	0.98	0.71, 1.35	0.91
No	547	59.1	378	40.9	R	eference	
Missing	1						
Stillbirth before diagnosis							
Yes	3	60.0	2	40.0	1.04	0.17, 6.24	0.97
No	656	59.1	454	40.9	R	eference	
Missing	1						
Abortion before diagnosis							
Yes	91	60.3	60	39.7	1.06	0.75, 1.50	0.76
No	568	58.9	396	41.1	Reference		
Missing	1						
Ectopic pregnancy before							
diagnosis							
Yes	4	40.0	6	60.0	0.46	0.30, 1.63	0.23
No	655	59.3	450	40.7	R	eference	
Missing	1						
Preterm birth before							
diagnosis ^e							
Yes	71	49.0	74	51.0	0.59	0.42, 0.85	<0.01
No	588	60.6	382	39.4	R	eference	
Missing	1						
Low birth weight before diagnosis ^f							
Yes	41	49.4	42	50.6	0.64	0.41, 1.02	0.06
No	562	59.0	391	41.0	R	eference	
Missing	57		23				

^aFewer kids defined by subtracting the number of children a woman had from the number of children she desired at the time of the interview.

^bBased on the question: "I would be/would have been comfortable with the idea of using assisted reproductive technology, such as in vitro fertilization or artificial insemination, to help me get pregnant."

^cSurgery on fallopian tubes includes getting tubes tied for birth control.

^dAmenorrhea defined as 3 months or more without a menstrual period since the participants turned 20 years old.

^ePreterm birth defined as a live birth less than 37 weeks. "No" includes nulliparous women. ^fLow birth weight defined as a live birth less than 2500 grams. "No" includes nulliparous women.

	Receiv	ved Fertili	ty Coun	seling			
	Y	es	N	0			
	(n=	:660)	(n=4	456)			
	n	%	n	%	OR	95% CI	p value
Chronic hypertension							
before diagnosis							
Yes	31	62.0	19	38.0	1.13	0.63, 2.03	0.68
No	628	59.0	436	41.0	Reference		
Missing	1		1				
Diabetes before diagnosis							
Yes	11	55.0	9	45.0	0.84	0.35, 2.05	0.70
No	648	59.2	446	40.8	Re	eference	
Missing	1		1				
Smoker before diagnosis							
Yes	162	61.8	100	38.2	1.16	0.88, 1.55	0.30
No	496	58.2	356	41.8	Re	eference	
Missing	2						
BMI at diagnosis ^a							
Underweight	25	56.8	19	43.2	0.85	0.46, 1.57	0.51
Normal	400	60.8	258	39.2	Re	eference	
Overweight	125	55.3	101	44.7	0.80	0.59, 1.08	
Obese	108	58.1	78	41.9	0.89	0.64, 1.24	
Missing	2						
Year of diagnosis							
1990-94	10	66.7	5	33.3	1.24	0.42, 3.67	0.16
1995-99	67	51.9	62	48.1	0.67	0.46, 0.98	
2000-04	228	57.4	169	42.6	0.84	0.64, 1.09	
2005-09	355	61.7	220	38.3	Re	eference	
Chemotherapy ^b							
Yes	466	72.9	173	27.1	3.93	3.05, 5.06	<0.01
No	194	40.7	283	59.3	Re	eference	
Radiation ^c							
Yes	345	67.4	167	32.6	1.90	1.49, 2.42	<0.01
No	315	52.2	289	47.9	Re	eference	
Cancer types							
Reproductive (cervix. ovary.							
uterus)	51	81.0	12	19.1	3.10	1.63, 5.88	<0.01
Breast	274	69.7	119	30.3	2.01	1.55, 2.61	<0.01

Supplemental Table 6-C: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer Survivors That Might Influence A Healthcare Provider's Initiation of a Discussion About Fertility Counseling and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (All Cancers)

Brain	16	57.1	12	42.9	0.92	0.43, 1.96	0.83		
Hodgkin lymphoma	97	82.9	20	17.1	3.76	2.28, 1.96	<0.01		
Non-hodgkin lymphoma	34	61.8	21	38.2	1.13	0.64, 1.97	0.68		
Thyroid	66	54.1	56	45.9	0.79	0.54, 1.16	0.23		
Other cancer type	122	36.1	216	63.9	Reference				
^a Body mass index classified as: underweight = <18.5, normal weight = 18.5-24.9, overweight =									
25-29.9, and obese = 30 or greater.									
^b Chemotherapy as self-reported in the interview.									

^cRadiation as self-reported in the interview.

	<u>Recei</u>	ved Ferti	lity Cour	nseling			
	Y (n=	'es 584)	N (n=	No 308)			
	n	%	n	%	OR	95% CI	p value
Age at diagnosis (years)							
20-24	83	65.4	44	34.7	0.83	0.53, 1.31	0.30
25-29	174	69.3	77	30.7	R	eference	
30-35	327	63.6	187	36.4	0.77	0.56, 1.07	
Race							
White	403	68.4	186	31.6	Reference		0.03
Black	154	59.0	107	41.0	0.66	0.49, 0.90	
Other race	27	65.9	14	34.2	0.89	0.46, 1.74	
Missing			1				
Education ^a							
High school or less	23	37.1	39	62.9	0.28	0.16, 0.50	<0.01
Some college	163	64.4	90	35.6	0.86	0.61, 1.22	
College graduate At least some graduate	214	67.7	102	32.3	R	Reference	
school	184	70.8	76	29.2	1.15	0.81, 1.65	
Missing			1				
Income ^b							
Less than or equal to \$50k	198	59.8	133	40.2	0.60	0.42, 0.86	0.01
\$50k - 100k	213	67.6	102	32.4	0.84	0.58, 1.22	
\$100k+	166	71.2	67	28.8	R	eference	
Missing	7		6				
Insurance ^c							
Private	449	68.9	203	31.1	R	eference	<0.01
Self	32	71.1	13	28.9	1.11	0.57, 2.17	
Public	58	54.2	49	45.8	0.54	0.35, 0.81	
None	44	50.6	43	49.4	0.46	0.29, 0.73	
Missing	1						
Married or cohabitating at time of diagnosis							
Yes	414	67.2	202	32.8	R	Reference	
No	170	61.6	106	38.4	0.78	0.58, 1.05	0.10
Place of residence at diagnosis ^d	-					,	-
Large central	81	67 5	39	32.5	1.12	0.73. 1 71	0.94
	01	07.0		52.5		5.75, 1.71	0.71

Supplemental Table 6-D: Bivariate Associations Between Sociodemographic Characteristics of Cancer Survivors and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (Excludes Melanoma and Thyroid Cancer)

310	65.0	167	35.0	R	eference
131	66.2	67	33.8	1.05	0.74, 1.49
62	63.9	35	36.1	0.95	0.61, 1.50
ime of the ir	terview.				
e of the inte	rview.				
s employer.	school, m	nilitary o	r VA insi	urance:	self includes COBR
	310 131 62 ime of the interview o	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 310 & 65.0 \\ 131 & 66.2 \\ 62 & 63.9 \\ \hline \text{ime of the interview.} \\ \text{s employer, school, m} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ccccc} 310 & 65.0 & 167 \\ 131 & 66.2 & 67 \\ 62 & 63.9 & 35 \\ \hline \text{ime of the interview.} \\ \text{the of the interview.} \\ \text{s employer, school, military of the interview.} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

public includes Medicare and Medicaid. ^dType of place of residence based on a modified version of the NCHS urban rural categories.

	Recei	ved Fertil	lity Cour				
	Y (n=	es 584)	N (n=1	lo 308)			
	n	%	n	%	OR	95% CI	p value
Given birth to at least one child at diagnosis							
Yes	263	56.8	200	43.2	R	eference	
No	321	74.8	108	25.2	2.26	1.70, 3.01	<0.01
Fewer children than desired at time of interview ^a							
Yes	355	72.2	137	27.9	1.96	1.48, 2.60	<0.01
No	222	56.9	168	43.1	R	eference	
Missing	7		3				
Comfortable with ART ^b							
Strongly agree	73	67.6	35	32.4	1.04	0.56, 1.93	0.08
Agree	170	72.0	66	28.0	1.29	0.75, 2.22	
Neither agree nor disagree	54	66.7	27	33.3	Reference		
Disagree	169	61.7	105	38.3	0.80	0.48, 1.36	
Strongly disagree	112	60.5	73	39.5	0.77	0.44, 1.33	
Missing	6		2				
Polycystic ovary syndrome before diagnosis							
Yes	31	68.9	14	31.1	1.18	0.62, 2.25	0.62
No	546	65.2	291	34.8	R	eference	
Missing	7		3				
Endometriosis before diagnosis							
Yes	36	57.1	27	42.9	0.69	0.41, 1.15	0.16
No	546	66.0	281	34.0	R	eference	
Missing	2						
Fibroids before diagnosis							
Yes	41	67.2	20	32.8	1.09	0.63, 1.89	0.77
No	539	65.3	286	34.7	R	eference	
Missing	4		2				
Chlamydia before							
diagnosis	10			40.5	0.57	0.40.4.00	0.07
Yes	48	56.5	37	43.5	0.65	0.42, 1.03	0.07

Supplemental Table 6-E: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer Survivors That Might Influence Initiating a Discussion About Fertility Counseling and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (Excludes Melanoma and Thyroid Cancer)

No	536	66.5	270	33.5	Reference	
Missing						
Gonorrhea before						
diagnosis						
Yes	11	47.8	12	52.2	0.47 0.21, 1.09	0.08
No	573	65.9	296	34.1	Reference	
Pelvic Inflammatory Disease before diagnosis						
Vas	16	57 1	12	12 0	0.60 0.32 1.40	0.35
No	10 567	57.1 65.8	205	42.9	Deference	0.55
Missing	1	05.8	295	54.2	Kelelellee	
Human Papilloma Virus	1		1			
before diagnosis						
Yes	63	71.6	25	28.4	1.36 0.84, 2.21	0.21
No	520	64.9	281	35.1	Reference	
Missing	1		2			
Herpes before diagnosis						
Yes	26	63.4	15	36.6	0.91 0.48, 1.75	0.78
No	558	65.6	293	34.4	Reference	
Surgery on ovaries before						
diagnosis						
Yes	34	63.0	20	37.0	0.86 0.48, 1.52	0.60
No	492	66.5	248	33.5	Reference	
Missing	58		40			
Surgery on fallopian tubes						
before diagnosis ^c						
Yes	36	44.4	45	55.6	0.38 0.24, 0.61	<0.01
No	536	67.7	256	32.3	Reference	
Missing	12		7			
Surgery on uterus before diagnosis						
Yes	14	70.0	6	30.0	1.24 0.47, 3.27	0.66
No	563	65.2	300	34.8	Reference	
Missing	7		2			
History of amenorrhea						
before diagnosis ^d						
Yes	106	68.0	50	32.1	1.13 0.78, 1.64	0.53
No	436	65.3	232	34.7	Reference	
Missing	42		26			
Pregnant at diagnosis						
Yes	28	73.7	10	26.3	1.50 0.72, 3.13	0.28
No	556	65.1	298	34.9	Reference	

Miscarriage before diagnosis							
Yes	106	63.5	61	36.5	0.90	0.63, 1.28	0.55
No	477	65.9	247	34.1	R	eference	
Missing	1						
Stillbirth before diagnosis							
Yes	3	60.0	2	40.0	0.79	0.13, 4.76	0.80
No	580	65.5	306	34.5	R	eference	
Missing							
Abortion before diagnosis							
Yes	86	64.2	48	35.8	0.94	0.64, 1.38	0.74
No	497	65.7	260	34.4	R	eference	
Missing							
Ectopic pregnancy before diagnosis							
Yes	3	33.3	6	66.7	0.26	0.07, 1.05	0.06
No	580	65.8	302	34.2	R	eference	
Missing							
Preterm birth before diagnosis ^e							
Yes	67	51.9	62	48.1	0.52	0.35, 0.75	<0.01
No	516	67.7	246	32.3	R	eference	
Missing							
Low birth weight before diagnosis ^f							
Yes	40	51.3	38	48.7	0.56	0.35, 0.89	0.01
No	489	65.5	258	34.5	R	eference	
Missing	55		12				

^aFewer kids defined by subtracting the number of children a woman had from the number of children she desired at the time of the interview.

^bBased on the question: "I would be/would have been comfortable with the idea of using assisted reproductive technology, such as in vitro fertilization or artificial insemination, to help me get pregnant."

^cSurgery on fallopian tubes includes getting tubes tied for birth control.

^dAmenorrhea defined as 3 months or more without a menstrual period since the participants turned 20 years old.

^ePreterm birth defined as a live birth less than 37 weeks. "No" includes nulliparous women. ^fLow birth weight defined as a live birth less than 2500 grams. "No" includes nulliparous women.

Supplemental Table 6-F: Bivariate Associations Between Characteristics of Cancer Survivors That Might Influence A Healthcare Provider's Initiation of a Discussion About Fertility Counseling and Receipt of Fertility Counseling (Excludes Melanoma and Thyroid Cancer)

	Recei	ved Ferti	lity Cou				
	Yes No						
	(n=	(n=584) (n=30		308)			
	n	%	n	%	OR	95% CI	p value
Chronic hypertension before diagnosis							
Yes	26	57.8	19	42.2	0.71	0.39, 1.30	0.27
No	557	65.9	288	34.1	R	eference	
Missing	1		1				
Diabetes before diagnosis							
Yes	11	57.9	8	42.1	0.72	0.29, 1.80	0.48
No	573	65.7	299	34.3	R	eference	
Missing			1				
Smoker before diagnosis							
Yes	150	69.1	67	30.9	1.25	0.90, 1.73	0.19
No	433	64.2	241	35.8	Reference		
Missing	1						
BMI at diagnosis ^a							
Underweight	21	67.7	10	32.3	0.98	0.45, 2.13	0.18
Normal	351	68.2	164	31.8	R	eference	
Overweight	112	62.2	68	37.8	0.77	0.54, 1.10	
Obese	98	59.8	66	40.2	0.69	0.48, 1.00	
Missing	2						
Year of diagnosis							
1990-94	10	66.7	5	33.3	0.96	0.32, 2.85	0.51
1995-99	57	64.0	32	36.0	0.85	0.53, 1.37	
2000-04	193	62.5	116	37.5	0.80	0.59, 1.07	
2005-09	324	67.6	155	32.4	Reference		
Chemotherapy ^b							
Yes	466	72.9	173	27.1	3.08	2.28, 4.17	<0.01
No	118	46.6	135	53.4	R	eference	
Radiation ^c							
Yes	301	70.2	128	29.8	1.50	1.13, 1.98	<0.01
No	283	61.1	180	38.9	R	eference	
Cancer types							
Reproductive (cervix, ovary, uterus)	51	81.0	12	19.1	2.36	1.24, 4.50	0.01

Breast	274	69.7	119	30.3	1.40	1.06, 1.86	0.02		
Brain	16	57.1	12	42.9	0.70	0.32, 1.49	0.35		
Hodgkin lymphoma	97	82.9	20	17.1	2.87	1.74, 4.74	<0.01		
Non-hodgkin lymphoma	34	61.8	21	38.2	0.85	0.48, 1.48	0.56		
Other cancer type	112	47.5	124	52.5	Reference				
^a Body mass index classified a	^a Body mass index classified as: underweight = <18.5 , normal weight = $18.5-24.9$, overweight =								
25-29.9, and obese = 30 or greater.									
^b Chemotherapy as self-reported in the interview.									
^c Radiation as self-reported in the interview.									

	Recei	ved Fertility	y Counsel	ling			
	Y (n=2	es 274)	N (n=1	ío I 19)			
	n	%	n	%	OR	95% CI	p value
Cancer stage ^{a,b}							
Zero ^c	27	56.3	21	43.8	0.56	0.29, 1.07	0.18
One	129	69.7	56	30.3	Reference		
Two	5	71.4	2	28.6	1.09	0.20, 5.76	
Three	91	71.1	37	28.9	1.07	0.65, 1.75	
Four	11	91.7	1	8.3	4.78	0.60, 37.89	
Missing	11		2				
^a Cancer stage reported by the Georgia Cancer Registry. ^b Thirteen breast cancer survivors were missing information on stage. ^c Stage zero includes in situ breast cancer only.							

Supplemental Table 6-G: Receipt of Fertility	Counseling by	Stage of (Cancer	Among
Breast Cancer Survivors				

	SOCIO-						
	DEMOGRAPHIC	PATIENT	PHYSICIAN				
Age at diagnosis		\checkmark					
Race							
Education							
Income	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Insurance	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Married or cohabitating at time of diagnosis	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Type of place of residence at diagnosis	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				
Given birth to at least one child at diagnosis							
Fewer children than desired at time of interview	,	\checkmark					
Comfortable with ART ^b							
Reproductive condition before diagnosis							
Reproductive surgery before diagnosis		\checkmark					
Pregnant at diagnosis		\checkmark					
Adverse pregnancy outcome before diagnosise		\checkmark					
Adverse birth outcome before diagnosis		\checkmark					
Comorbidities			\checkmark				
Smoking history			\checkmark				
BMI at diagnosis							
Year of diagnosis							
Cancer treatment modality ^h							
Cancer type							
^a Level of urbanization of the county of residence							
^b Comfort with assisted reproductive technologies su	ich as in vitro fert	ilization.					
Diagnosis with polycystic ovary syndrome, endometriosis, or fibroids.							
^d Surgery on uterus, ovaries, or fallopian tubes.							
^e Miscarriage or stillbirth.							
^f Preterm or low birth weight birth							
^g Chronic hypertension or diabetes.							
^h Chemotherapy and/or radiation.							

Figure 6-1. Categories of Factors that May Influence Whether or Not a Woman Receives Fertility Counseling at the Time of Cancer Diagnosis.



Figure 6-2. Receipt of Fertility Counseling by Parity and Desire for More Children



Figure 6-3. Receipt of Fertility Counseling by Cancer Type

CHAPTER 7: Summary of Findings and Future Research

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Findings from Aim 1

Aim 1 (Chapter 3) assessed whether a racial disparity existed in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. In this study, we found substantial racial differences in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant, yet similar reporting of impaired fertility in black and white women. Since our paper was focused on how the experience of black race in the US context might affect women's use of medical care for infertility, we estimated the racial disparity that remained after accounting for a set of identified mediating paths from the social construct of race to visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. These mediatoradjusted models were only able to partially explain the difference by race in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. Survival analysis results were consistent in showing a disparity in seeking care for help getting pregnant by race. Black women waited almost twice as long on average compared with white women after experiencing infertility before visiting a doctor for fertility care. Racial disparities persisted despite control for mediating paths or type of analysis used which suggests that additional components that contribute to the social construct of race are influencing the disparity in seeking fertility care.

Findings from Aim 2

Aim 2 (Chapter 4) examined geographic differences in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. Results from the four category geographic classification, where we looked at residence in urbanized, suburban, small metropolitan, and small town/rural counties showed differences in visiting a doctor for fertility care by type of county of

residence. The largest differences in seeking fertility care by geographic type of residence were among the women who reported experiencing infertility. Some of this difference could be due to cultural factors that might influence a woman's comfort with assisted reproductive technology and adoption or the importance of having a biologic child. Women from small town/rural counties were least comfortable with assisted reproductive technology and most comfortable with adoption. The opposite trend was seen among women from urbanized counties where women were most comfortable with assisted reproductive technology and least comfortable with adoption. The majority of women regardless of type of county of residence reported that having a biologic child was very important to them.

After controlling for differences in participant characteristics by type of residence, women from small town counties had a similar likelihood of visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant to women from suburban counties. These women were the most likely to seek care. Further, adjusted analyses showed women from small town/rural counties had a similar likelihood of visiting a doctor to women from urbanized counties. These women were the least likely to seek care. Findings from this study suggest a disparity in access to fertility care among small town/rural residents as well as residents of urbanized counties compared with other county types. These findings were consistent with results obtained using the National Survey for Family Growth (Chapter 5).

Findings from Aim 3

Aim 3 (Chapter 6) determined which factors were most strongly associated with receiving fertility counseling at the time of cancer diagnosis. Practice guidelines for

124

healthcare providers treating cancer patiens state that all women of reproductive age should be counseled on how cancer treatment might affect their future fertility [8]. In our study, 40% of cancer survivors reported not receiving information on how cancer treatment could affect their future fertility. Of the women who received counseling, only 13% were referred to a fertility specialist to discuss fertility preservation options.

We examined three groups of factors that might influence the receipt of counseling. Among the sociodemographic variables assessed having less than some college level education was associated with a reduced likelihood of fertility counseling. Among the patient characteristics that might influence a woman to initiate a discussion about fertility, we found women who were nulliparous or had a desire for more children at the time of diagnosis were more likely to get counseled about fertility compared with women who had children or did not want any (more). When we looked at patient characteristics that might influence a physician's provision of fertility counseling, treatment with chemotherapy and certain cancer types were associated with receipt of counseling. Models including patient characteristics that might influence physicians in providing counseling showed survivors of reproductive cancers were among the most likely to be counseled while survivors of non-Hodgkin lymphoma were least likely to be counseled. However, even among the reproductive cancers, 20% of women diagnosed with ovarian, uterine, or cervical cancer reported not receiving fertility counseling.

Overall Findings

These three studies show that there are certain groups of women who may need fertility counseling and treatment and are not receiving it. Black women, women who live in an urbanized or small town/rural county, and women with less education were less likely to receive fertility counseling and care. In *Aim 1*, compared with white women, black women in our study were less likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant even though they were also less likely to have a child at the time of the interview.

In *Aim 2*, we found that after adjustment for important covariates of the association between type of place of residence and visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant, women living in suburban and small metropolitan areas were most likely to seek this type of care. Women living in urbanized and small town/rural counties were less likely to visit a doctor for fertility care. While unsurprising that women living in less densely populated areas are accessing specialized medical care less frequently than more densely populated areas, it was notable that women living in the most urbanized counties, where there is greater physical access to medical care, were no more likely to access fertility care than women living in the least urbanized.

In *Aim 3*, our results show that despite universal recommendations to provide women of reproductive age with fertility counseling at the time of their cancer diagnosis, close to 41% of women did not report receiving any information on how cancer treatment could affect future fertility. This is alarming because cancer patients are already communicating with a healthcare provider when they need information on possible effects of cancer treatment on fertility and unlike women from the general population, cancer patients should not need to initiate a discussion with a healthcare provider about fertility care. Few variables of the many examined were strongly associated with receiving counseling, indicating that although the provision of counseling overall is

insufficient, there were not disparities in counseling for many of the characteristics we looked at in our study. However, less education, was persistently associated with a reduced likelihood of receiving counseling, which suggests that these women are not being counseled because of their level of education or factors associated with less education, or they were not counseled in a way that was commensurate with their level of understanding.

STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

There were several limitations of the three studies addressing *Aims 1-3* of this dissertation. In studies addressing *Aims 1 and 2*, we utilized the comparison women from the FUCHSIA Women's Study. The recruitment strategy used for these participants may have resulted in selection bias. While, recruitment of the cancer survivors in FUCHSIA was truly population-based, recruitment of comparison women was done using a purchased marketing list which may have lacked information on some women who we wanted to participate in our study. The purchased list was generated to match the distribution of age and location of residence of female cancer survivors 22-45 years old who were recruited by FUCHSIA from all eligible cancer survivors in the state. Despite not being truly population-based, comparison women were similar to cancer survivors on many of the sociodemographic characteristics of interest.

The timing of the measurement of some of the variables was not always ideal. In *Aim 2* we were constrained to women's place of residence at the time of the interview, which on average was 9 years after the age at visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant, so some women may have been misclassified. This may have been mitigated by the fact

that women may not have moved to a different geographic type of county and overall, across the population of the state, there was only a 3.5% increase in the urban population in the state of Georgia between 2000 and 2010 [131, 132].

Some of our demographic variables, education, income, and insurance were measured at the time of the interview. In all three aims, we would have liked to know the values of these variables at the time of the outcome, either visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant (Aims 1-2) or receiving fertility counseling at the time of cancer diagnosis (Aim 3). Depending on the timing of the interview in relation to the outcome of interest, these may be good proxies of the information we wanted, with longer duration resulting in more uncertainty that the desired measure was being captured. Another limitation across all studies is that the data are restricted to self-reported information on fertility discussions with healthcare providers without verification with medical records. However, we expect women are able to remember a self-initiated visit to the doctor for help getting pregnant (Aims 1-2) and found women could consistently report this information in our pilot studies [93]. For Aim 3, participants were asked to recall receiving fertility counseling at the time they were diagnosed with cancer. Because this is a uniquely stressful time, information exchanged during this or doctor's visits around this time could have been missed by the participant.

There were also many strengths of these three studies. First, these studies used a population-based sample. Women were recruited to participate independently of their fertility status, allowing for a comparison between women who did and did not visit a doctor for help getting pregnant. This is in contrast to clinic-based studies that can only

describe the characteristics of women who visit a fertility clinic for help getting pregnant. These studies cannot fully capture disparities by race or other sociodemographic factors; they are just able to describe difference in care among help seekers. In addition, all women interviewed in the FUCHSIA Women's Study were asked whether or not they ever visited a doctor for help getting pregnant. This question was asked regardless of a participant's marital or infertility status. Since we did not restrict who we asked this question, we were able to include the full sample in our analyses for *Aims 1 and 2*. This was important because of those visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant, close to 10% never reported experiencing a period of infertility.

The FUCHSIA Women's Study was especially well suited to examine black white racial disparities (*Aim 1*). Black women, who are traditionally underrepresented in research were well represented in the FUCHSIA Women's Study because the study population reflected the demographic composition of women of reproductive age (20-44 years) in Georgia, which is 34% black [115]. Categories of education, type of place of residence, and household income were also well represented allowing us to look at differences in fertility care within these groups. Because the interview was extensively detailed, we could capture information not commonly collected in other studies such as women's feelings about assisted reproductive technology and adoption, as well as how important having a biologic child was to them. This information was used to describe some of the cultural factors that differ by type of county of residence.

Another strength of the FUCHSIA Women's Study is that almost all cancer types were recruited. The study included all invasive cancers except non-melanoma skin cancer, as well as in situ breast cancer. Most studies of cancer survivors limit to a few cancer types and are limited in their conclusions to those few cancers. The broad inclusion criteria in the FUCHSIA Women's Study allowed us to assess differences in receipt of fertility counseling across most cancer types (*Aim 3*). Because the FUCHSIA Women's Study also included women diagnosed over several decades, we could also compare trends in fertility counseling and referral before and after the guidelines for universal counseling by ASRM and ASCO were released in 2005 and 2006, respectively. Lastly, while some studies have found that parity influences whether or not women get fertility counseling at diagnosis, with women who already have children being less likely to be counseled, parity might not be a good indicator of women's reproductive desires [25]. In *Aim 3* we were able to look at receipt of fertility counseling by the unique outcome of having fewer children than desired which captures women who have not yet reached their desired family size, regardless of parity.

FUTURE RESEARCH

In Aim 1 we found that black women were less likely to visit a doctor for help getting pregnant than white women. We assessed this association using a populationbased sample in Georgia. Sociocultural factors were accounted for to the extent available by including women's reported comfort with using assisted reproductive technology and desire for children. In analyses which controlled for these and other mediating variables between race and visiting a doctor for fertility care, a residual disparity remained, suggesting factors not included in our analysis are having an effect on fertility care seeking. Thus, future research into additional sociocultural and demographic factors that might be contributing to these disparities could elucidate ways to improve the dissemination of information on infertility and treatment options, in turn increasing the utilization of fertility care. These additional factors might include addressing women's feelings around infertility such as stigma, personal sense of failure to conceive a child, and support or discouragement from their family and friends regarding the use of fertility treatment. Additionally, population-based studies of utilization of fertility care are rare and findings from more of these types of studies, that include a women in the general population, could contribute to what has been found among help seeking women in the clinic-based literature. In addition to more research to better explain why racial disparities exist in who visits a doctor for help getting pregnant, better communication about available fertility counseling and treatment options could help address these disparities by decreasing discomfort with using medical help for becoming pregnant.

In Aim 2 we found women living in the most and least urbanized counties were least likely to seek fertility care. In our study, we had limited sample size within each of the four categories of type of place of residence of interest. Analyses conducted using data from NSFG provided a larger sample size which was nationally representative, but was limited by how the geographic categories were classified; they were only provided as a three-level variable and without context to where in the US participants lived. Larger population-based studies in a defined region would provide more precise and interpretable estimates of geographic disparities in visiting a doctor for help getting pregnant. These studies could also provide information on factors driving low use of fertility care in urbanized counties where physical access to care is not the major barrier, but might be caused by financial or sociocultural barriers.

In Aim 3 we found that an unacceptably low proportion of cancer survivors reported that they received information on how cancer treatment could affect their ability to become pregnant. Characteristics of the participants were assessed to find factors associated with receipt of fertility counseling at the time of diagnosis. The only consistent factor that was associated with a lack of counseling was having no college education. Unlike Aims 1 and 2, all women are seeing a healthcare provider at the time they need fertility counseling, so improvements in access to this type of care should be healthcare provider focused. Additional studies assessing oncologist's knowledge about and comfort with fertility counseling could pinpoint some areas for additional education. Awareness by oncologists about the importance of discussing the effects of cancer treatment on fertility among all their patients of reproductive age may improve the frequency with which they offer this type of counseling. The next step would be to find ways to incorporate counseling into routine oncologic care. Potential ideas to do this would be to include it on an already existing checklist used for care or providing a counseling aid with key points for oncologists to address. Surveying oncologists to get their opinions on ways to easily include fertility counseling into care could identify the best way to do this.

There are many ways that can help expand the use of fertility care. Providing women with more information on infertility and treatment options may help increase the utilization of care among the general population. Using regular doctor's visits and already existing organizations that bring awareness to infertility can help facilitate this exchange of information, as well as make specific efforts to reach women who are underrepresented in the utilization of fertility care. This could increase the overall comfort women have with seeking care for help getting pregnant. Additionally, it could
help more cancer patients receive fertility counseling, because awareness of fertility issues may prompt them to initiate a fertility discussion with their oncologist at the time of cancer diagnosis and make them more comfortable visiting a fertility specialist to discuss fertility preservation options. Giving women comprehensive information on their options for medical help to become pregnant can allow them to make informed decisions about how to achieve their reproductive goals.

References

- Statistics, C.-N.C.f.H. Key Statistics from the National Survey of Family Growth (data are for 2006-2010). Available from: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/fertile.htm</u>.
- Chandra, A., et al., *Fertility, family planning, and reproductive health of U.S. women: data from the 2002 National Survey of Family Growth.* Vital Health Stat 23, 2005(25): p. 1-160.
- 3. Zegers-Hochschild, F., et al., *International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology (ICMART) and the World Health Organization (WHO) revised glossary of ART terminology, 2009.* Fertil Steril, 2009. **92**(5): p. 1520-4.
- 4. *American Society of Reproductive Medicine: Defining Infertility* 2014; Available from: http://www.asrm.org/FACTSHEET_Defining_Infertility/.
- Chandra, A., C.E. Copen, and E.H. Stephen, *Infertility service use in the United States: data from the National Survey of Family Growth*, 1982-2010. Natl Health Stat Report, 2014(73): p. 1-21.
- Partridge, A.H., et al., Web-based survey of fertility issues in young women with breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2004. 22(20): p. 4174-83.
- Schover, L.R., *Patient attitudes toward fertility preservation*. Pediatr Blood Cancer, 2009. 53(2): p. 281-4.

- Loren, A.W., et al., *Fertility preservation for patients with cancer: american society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline update.* J Clin Oncol, 2013.
 31(19): p. 2500-10.
- 9. Lee, S.J., et al., American Society of Clinical Oncology recommendations on fertility preservation in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol, 2006. **24**(18): p. 2917-31.
- 10. *Fertility preservation and reproduction in cancer patients*. Fertil Steril, 2005.
 83(6): p. 1622-8.
- Tschudin, S. and J. Bitzer, *Psychological aspects of fertility preservation in men* and women affected by cancer and other life-threatening diseases. Hum Reprod Update, 2009. 15(5): p. 587-97.
- 12. Quinn, G.P., et al., *Oncologists' use of patient educational materials about cancer and fertility preservation*. Psychooncology, 2012. **21**(11): p. 1244-9.
- Goodman, L.R., et al., *Trends of socioeconomic disparities in referral patterns for fertility preservation consultation*. Hum Reprod, 2012. 27(7): p. 2076-81.
- Quinn, G.P., et al., *Impact of physicians' personal discomfort and patient prognosis on discussion of fertility preservation with young cancer patients*.
 Patient Educ Couns, 2009. **77**(3): p. 338-43.
- Huddleston, H.G., et al., *Racial and ethnic disparities in reproductive endocrinology and infertility*. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2010. 202(5): p. 413-419.

- Bitler, M. and L. Schmidt, *Health disparities and infertility: impacts of state-level insurance mandates.* Fertil Steril, 2006. 85(4): p. 858-65.
- 17. White, L., J. McQuillan, and A.L. Greil, *Explaining disparities in treatment seeking: the case of infertility.* Fertil Steril, 2006. **85**(4): p. 853-7.
- Sunderam, S., et al., Assisted reproductive technology surveillance -- United States, 2010. MMWR Surveill Summ, 2013. 62(9): p. 1-24.
- 19. Nangia, A.K., D.S. Likosky, and D. Wang, *Access to assisted reproductive technology centers in the United States*. Fertil Steril, 2010. **93**(3): p. 745-61.
- Jain, T., S.A. Missmer, and M.D. Hornstein, *Trends in embryo-transfer practice and in outcomes of the use of assisted reproductive technology in the United States.* N Engl J Med, 2004. **350**(16): p. 1639-45.
- Missmer, S.A., D.B. Seifer, and T. Jain, *Cultural factors contributing to health care disparities among patients with infertility in Midwestern United States.* Fertility and Sterility, 2011. 95(6): p. 1943-1949.
- Jain, T., Socioeconomic and racial disparities among infertility patients seeking care. Fertility and Sterility, 2006. 85(4): p. 876-881.
- 23. White, L., J. McQuillan, and A.L. Greil, *Explaining disparities in treatment seeking: the case of infertility*. Fertility and Sterility, 2006. **85**(4): p. 853-857.

- Seifer, D.B., L.M. Frazier, and D.A. Grainger, *Disparity in assisted reproductive technologies outcomes in black women compared with white women*. Fertil Steril, 2008. 90(5): p. 1701-10.
- 25. Letourneau, J.M., et al., *Racial, socioeconomic, and demographic disparities in access to fertility preservation in young women diagnosed with cancer.* Cancer, 2012. 118(18): p. 4579-88.
- Statistics, C.N.C.f.H. About the National Survey of Family Growth. 2012 [cited 2013 October]; Available from: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nsfg/about_nsfg.htm</u>.
- 27. Marchbanks, P.A., et al., *Research on infertility: definition makes a difference. The Cancer and Steroid Hormone Study Group.* Am J Epidemiol, 1989. 130(2): p. 259-67.
- Wilcox, A.J., *Fertility and Pregnancy An Epidemiologic Perspective*. 2010, New York: Oxford University Press.
- 29. Haggerty, C.L., et al., *Risk of sequelae after Chlamydia trachomatis genital infection in women.* J Infect Dis, 2010. **201 Suppl 2**: p. S134-55.
- 30. Abrao, M.S., L. Muzii, and R. Marana, *Anatomical causes of female infertility and their management*. Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 2013.
- Fraser, A., et al., Prenatal Exposures and Anti-Mullerian Hormone in Female Adolescents: The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. Am J Epidemiol, 2013.

- 32. Gregoraszczuk, E.L. and A. Ptak, *Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals: Some Actions* of POPs on Female Reproduction. Int J Endocrinol, 2013. **2013**: p. 828532.
- 33. Chandra Anjani, C.C.E., Hervey Stephen Elizabeth. *Infertility and Impaired Fecundity in the United States, 1982–2010: Data From the National Survey of Family Growth*. National health statistics reports; no 67. 2013 [cited 2013; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr067.pdf.
- Stephen, E.H. and A. Chandra, *Declining estimates of infertility in the United States: 1982-2002.* Fertil Steril, 2006. 86(3): p. 516-23.
- Harlow, S.D. and S.A. Ephross, *Epidemiology of Menstruation and Its Relevance to Women's Health*. Epidemiologic Reviews, 1995. 17(2): p. 265-286.
- 36. Seifer, D.B. and D.T. Maclaughlin, *Mullerian Inhibiting Substance is an ovarian growth factor of emerging clinical significance*. Fertil Steril, 2007. 88(3): p. 539-46.
- Kristensen, S.L., et al., *The association between circulating levels of* antimullerian hormone and follicle number, androgens, and menstrual cycle characteristics in young women. Fertil Steril, 2012. 97(3): p. 779-85.
- 38. Shin, S.Y., et al., Analysis of serum levels of anti-Mullerian hormone, inhibin B, insulin-like growth factor-I, insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3, and follicle-stimulating hormone with respect to age and menopausal status. J Korean Med Sci, 2008. 23(1): p. 104-10.

- de Vet, A., et al., Antimullerian hormone serum levels: a putative marker for ovarian aging. Fertil Steril, 2002. 77(2): p. 357-62.
- 40. van Rooij, I.A., et al., *Serum antimullerian hormone levels best reflect the reproductive decline with age in normal women with proven fertility: a longitudinal study.* Fertil Steril, 2005. **83**(4): p. 979-87.
- 41. Sowers, M.R., et al., *Anti-mullerian hormone and inhibin B in the definition of ovarian aging and the menopause transition*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2008.
 93(9): p. 3478-83.
- 42. Murto, T., et al., *Predictive value of hormonal parameters for live birth in women with unexplained infertility and male infertility*. Reprod Biol Endocrinol, 2013.
 11(1): p. 61.
- 43. Merhi, Z., et al., *Determining an anti-mullerian hormone cutoff level to predict clinical pregnancy following in vitro fertilization in women with severely diminished ovarian reserve.* J Assist Reprod Genet, 2013.
- 44. Infertility FAQs. 2013 June 20, 2013 [cited 2013 August]; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/Infertility/index.htm.
- Seifer, D.B., R. Zackula, and D.A. Grainger, *Trends of racial disparities in assisted reproductive technology outcomes in black women compared with white women: Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology 1999 and 2000 vs. 2004-2006.* Fertil Steril, 2010. **93**(2): p. 626-35.

- 46. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program
 (www.seer.cancer.gov), Age-Adjusted SEER Incidence Rates By Age At
 Diagnosis/Death All Sites, All Races, Female 2000-2010 (SEER 18). 2013,
 National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, Surveillance
 Systems Branch: Based on the November 2012 SEER data submission.
- 47. Green, D.M., et al., Ovarian failure and reproductive outcomes after childhood cancer treatment: results from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol, 2009. 27(14): p. 2374-81.
- 48. Larsen, E.C., et al., *Reduced ovarian function in long-term survivors of radiationand chemotherapy-treated childhood cancer*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2003.
 88(11): p. 5307-14.
- 49. Byrne, J., et al., *Effects of Treatment on Fertility in Long-Term Survivors of Childhood or Adolescent Cancer*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1987.
 317(21): p. 1315-1321.
- 50. Knopman, J.M., et al., *Surviving childhood and reproductive-age malignancy: effects on fertility and future parenthood.* Lancet Oncol, 2010. **11**(5): p. 490-8.
- 51. Metzger, M.L., et al., *Female reproductive health after childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancers: guidelines for the assessment and management of female reproductive complications.* J Clin Oncol, 2013. **31**(9): p. 1239-47.

- Green, D.M., Fertility and Pregnancy Outcome after Treatment for Cancer in Childhood or Adolescence. Oncologist, 1997. 2(3): p. 171-179.
- 53. Green, D.M., et al., *Fertility of female survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(16): p. 2677-85.
- Syse, A., O. Kravdal, and S. Tretli, *Parenthood after cancer a population-based study*. Psychooncology, 2007. 16(10): p. 920-7.
- 55. Madanat, L.M., et al., *Probability of parenthood after early onset cancer: a population-based study*. Int J Cancer, 2008. **123**(12): p. 2891-8.
- 56. Cvancarova, M., et al., *Reproduction rates after cancer treatment: experience from the Norwegian radium hospital.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(3): p. 334-43.
- 57. Surbone, A. and J.A. Petrek, *Childbearing issues in breast carcinoma survivors*. Cancer, 1997. **79**(7): p. 1271-8.
- Kroman, N., et al., Pregnancy after treatment of breast cancer--a populationbased study on behalf of Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group. Acta Oncol, 2008. 47(4): p. 545-9.
- 59. Kroman, N., et al., *Should women be advised against pregnancy after breastcancer treatment?* Lancet, 1997. **350**(9074): p. 319-22.
- 60. Hemminki, K., et al., *Risk of familial breast cancer is not increased after pregnancy*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2008. **108**(3): p. 417-20.

- 61. Lamar, C.A. and A.H. DeCherney, *Fertility preservation: state of the science and future research directions*. Fertil Steril, 2009. **91**(2): p. 316-9.
- 62. Donnez, J., *Introduction: Fertility preservation, from cancer to benign disease to social reasons: the challenge of the present decade.* Fertil Steril, 2013. **99**(6): p. 1467-8.
- 63. Noyes, N., et al., *Oocyte cryopreservation as a fertility preservation measure for cancer patients*. Reprod Biomed Online, 2011. **23**(3): p. 323-33.
- 64. Levine, J.M., et al., *Infertility in reproductive-age female cancer survivors*. Cancer, 2015.
- 65. Lee, S., et al., *Value of early referral to fertility preservation in young women with breast cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2010. **28**(31): p. 4683-6.
- 66. Rodriguez-Wallberg, K.A. and K. Oktay, *Options on fertility preservation in female cancer patients*. Cancer Treat Rev, 2012. **38**(5): p. 354-61.
- 67. Cakmak, H., et al., *Effective method for emergency fertility preservation: randomstart controlled ovarian stimulation.* Fertil Steril, 2013.
- 68. Michaan, N., et al., *Ovarian stimulation and emergency in vitro fertilization for fertility preservation in cancer patients*. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 2010.
 149(2): p. 175-7.

- 69. Sonmezer, M., et al., *Random-start controlled ovarian hyperstimulation for emergency fertility preservation in letrozole cycles*. Fertil Steril, 2011. **95**(6): p. 2125 e9-11.
- 70. Bedoschi, G.M., et al., *Ovarian stimulation during the luteal phase for fertility preservation of cancer patients: case reports and review of the literature.* J Assist Reprod Genet, 2010. **27**(8): p. 491-4.
- 71. Brambillasca, F., et al., *The current challenges to efficient immature oocyte cryopreservation.* J Assist Reprod Genet, 2013.
- 72. Prasath, E.B., et al., *First pregnancy and live birth resulting from cryopreserved embryos obtained from in vitro matured oocytes after oophorectomy in an ovarian cancer patient.* Hum Reprod, 2014. **29**(2): p. 276-8.
- Donnez, J. and M.M. Dolmans, *Fertility preservation in women*. Nat Rev Endocrinol, 2013. 9(12): p. 735-49.
- Bastings, L., et al., Autotransplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in cancer survivors and the risk of reintroducing malignancy: a systematic review. Hum Reprod Update, 2013. 19(5): p. 483-506.
- 75. Haie-Meder, C., et al., *Radiotherapy after ovarian transposition: ovarian function and fertility preservation.* Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 1993. **25**(3): p. 419-24.
- 76. Jenninga, E., et al., *Female fertility preservation: practical and ethical considerations of an underused procedure.* Cancer J, 2008. **14**(5): p. 333-9.

- Schover, L.R., *Motivation for parenthood after cancer: a review*. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr, 2005(34): p. 2-5.
- Scanlon, M., et al., Patient Satisfaction with Physician Discussions of Treatment Impact on Fertility, Menopause and Sexual Health among Pre-menopausal Women with Cancer. J Cancer, 2012. 3: p. 217-25.
- 79. Peate, M., et al., *Making hard choices easier: a prospective, multicentre study to assess the efficacy of a fertility-related decision aid in young women with early-stage breast cancer.* Br J Cancer, 2012. **106**(6): p. 1053-61.
- Healthy People 2020. 2010 [cited 2013 March 5]; Available from: http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/disparitiesAbout.aspx.
- 81. Braveman, P.A., et al., *Health disparities and health equity: the issue is justice*.Am J Public Health, 2011. 101 Suppl 1: p. S149-55.
- Kirby, J.B., G. Taliaferro, and S.H. Zuvekas, *Explaining racial and ethnic disparities in health care*. Med Care, 2006. 44(5 Suppl): p. I64-72.
- 83. *National Healthcare Disparities Report*. 2011, Agency for Healthcare Quality and Research: Rockville, MD.
- Banz, N.K. and M.H. Becker, *The Health Belief Model: A Decade Later*. Health Education & Behavior, 1984. 11(1): p. 1-47.

- 85. The ESHRE Capri Workshop Group, *Social determinants of human reproduction*.
 Human Reproduction, 2001. 16(7): p. 1518-1526.
- 86. Fujimoto, V.Y., et al., *Racial and ethnic disparities in assisted reproductive technology outcomes in the United States.* Fertil Steril, 2010. **93**(2): p. 382-90.
- McCarthy-Keith, D.M., et al., *Will decreasing assisted reproduction technology costs improve utilization and outcomes among minority women?* Fertility and Sterility, 2010. 94(7): p. 2587-2589.
- 88. Smith, J.F., et al., Socioeconomic disparities in the use and success of fertility treatments: analysis of data from a prospective cohort in the United States. Fertil Steril, 2011. 96(1): p. 95-101.
- Bendikson, K., et al., *Ethnic background and in vitro fertilization outcomes*. Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 2005. 88(3): p. 342-6.
- 90. Dayal, M.B., et al., *Does ethnicity influence in vitro fertilization (IVF) birth outcomes?* Fertil Steril, 2009. **91**(6): p. 2414-8.
- 91. Feinberg, E.C., et al., *Comparison of assisted reproductive technology utilization and outcomes between Caucasian and African American patients in an equalaccess-to-care setting*. Fertil Steril, 2006. **85**(4): p. 888-94.
- 92. Quinn, G.P., et al., *Physician referral for fertility preservation in oncology patients: a national study of practice behaviors.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(35): p. 5952-7.

- 93. Chin, H.B., et al., *Piloting a computer assisted telephone interview: the FUCHSIA Women inverted question marks Study.* BMC Womens Health, 2014.
 14(1): p. 149.
- 94. Thoma, M.E., et al., *Prevalence of infertility in the United States as estimated by the current duration approach and a traditional constructed approach*. Fertil Steril, 2013. **99**(5): p. 1324-1331 e1.
- 95. Greil, A.L., et al., *The hidden infertile: infertile women without pregnancy intent in the United States.* Fertil Steril, 2010. **93**(6): p. 2080-3.
- 96. 2015 [cited 2015 January 11,]; Available from: <u>http://www.resolve.org/</u>.
- 97. Farland, L.V., et al., *Use of fertility treatment modalities in a large United States cohort of professional women.* Fertil Steril, 2014. **101**(6): p. 1705-10.
- 98. National Public Health Action Plan for the Dectection, Prevention, and
 Management of Infertility. 2014, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention:
 Atlanta, GA.
- Valbuena, D., et al., Factors responsible for multiple pregnancies after ovarian stimulation and intrauterine insemination with gonadotropins. J Assist Reprod Genet, 1996. 13(8): p. 663-8.
- Luke, B., et al., Factors associated with ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) and its effect on assisted reproductive technology (ART) treatment and outcome. Fertil Steril, 2010. 94(4): p. 1399-404.

- 101. Kulkarni, A.D., et al., *Fertility treatments and multiple births in the United States*.N Engl J Med, 2013. **369**(23): p. 2218-25.
- 102. Kresowik, J.D., et al., *Five-years of a mandatory single-embryo transfer (mSET)* policy dramatically reduces twinning rate without lowering pregnancy rates. Fertil Steril, 2011. 96(6): p. 1367-9.
- 103. Lin, S.S. and J.L. Kelsey, Use of race and ethnicity in epidemiologic research: concepts, methodological issues, and suggestions for research. Epidemiol Rev, 2000. 22(2): p. 187-202.
- 104. Karlsen S, N.J., Measuring and Analyzing "Race," Racism, and Racial Discrimination, in Methods in Social Epidemiology. 2006, Jossey-Bass: San Francisco, CA.
- 105. Kaufman, J.S., R.S. Cooper, and D.L. McGee, Socioeconomic status and health in blacks and whites: the problem of residual confounding and the resiliency of race.
 Epidemiology, 1997. 8(6): p. 621-8.
- 106. Krieger, N., Does racism harm health? Did child abuse exist before 1962? On explicit questions, critical science, and current controversies: an ecosocial perspective. Am J Public Health, 2008. 98(9 Suppl): p. S20-5.
- 107. Jain, T. and M.D. Hornstein, *Disparities in access to infertility services in a state with mandated insurance coverage*. Fertil Steril, 2005. **84**(1): p. 221-3.

- 108. Kaufman, J.S. and R.S. Cooper, *Commentary: considerations for use of racial/ethnic classification in etiologic research*. Am J Epidemiol, 2001. 154(4): p. 291-8.
- 109. Definitions of infertility and recurrent pregnancy loss: a committee opinion. Fertil
 Steril, 2013. 99(1): p. 63.
- 110. Cole, S.R. and M.A. Hernan, *Constructing inverse probability weights for marginal structural models*. Am J Epidemiol, 2008. **168**(6): p. 656-64.
- 111. Spiegelman, D. and E. Hertzmark, *Easy SAS calculations for risk or prevalence ratios and differences*. Am J Epidemiol, 2005. **162**(3): p. 199-200.
- 112. VanderWeele, T.J. and W.R. Robinson, *On the causal interpretation of race in regressions adjusting for confounding and mediating variables*. Epidemiology, 2014. 25(4): p. 473-84.
- 113. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, A.S.f.R.M., Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology., 2012 Assisted Reproductive Technology Fertility Clinic Success Rates Report. 2014: Atlanta, GA.
- Benzies, K., et al., *Factors influencing women's decisions about timing of motherhood*. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs, 2006. **35**(5): p. 625-33.
- 115. 2010 Census Summary File for Georgia. 2010 [cited 2015 February 11,];Available from:

http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid= DEC_10_SF1_P12B&prodType=table.

- Berger, M., T.H. Wagner, and L.C. Baker, *Internet use and stigmatized illness*.Soc Sci Med, 2005. 61(8): p. 1821-7.
- 117. Kahlor, L. and M. Mackert, *Perceptions of infertility information and support sources among female patients who access the Internet*. Fertil Steril, 2009. **91**(1): p. 83-90.
- 118. Chambers, G.M., et al., *The economic impact of assisted reproductive technology: a review of selected developed countries*. Fertil Steril, 2009. **91**(6): p. 2281-94.
- 119. Doty, B., et al., *How does degree of rurality impact the provision of surgical services at rural hospitals?* J Rural Health, 2008. **24**(3): p. 306-10.
- 120. Hart, L.G., et al., *Rural health care providers in the United States*. J Rural Health, 2002. 18 Suppl: p. 211-32.
- 121. van Dis, J., *MSJAMA*. Where we live: health care in rural vs urban America.JAMA, 2002. 287(1): p. 108.
- 122. Edelman, M.A. and B.L. Menz, Selected comparisons and implications of a national rural and urban survey on health care access, demographics, and policy issues. J Rural Health, 1996. 12(3): p. 197-205.

- 123. Fields, B.E., et al., *The Impact of Insurance Instability on Health Service Utilization: Does Non metropolitan Residence Make a Difference?* J Rural Health, 2014.
- 124. Hartley, D., L. Quam, and N. Lurie, *Urban and rural differences in health insurance and access to care.* J Rural Health, 1994. **10**(2): p. 98-108.
- 125. Henne, M.B. and M.K. Bundorf, *Insurance mandates and trends in infertility treatments*. Fertil Steril, 2008. **89**(1): p. 66-73.
- 126. Ingram, D.D. and S.J. Franco, 2013 NCHS Urban-Rural Classification Scheme for Counties. Vital Health Stat 2, 2014(166): p. 1-73.
- 127. Bureau, U.C., 2013 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates. 2013.
- Mullen, M.T., et al., *Disparities in accessibility of certified primary stroke* centers. Stroke, 2014. 45(11): p. 3381-8.
- Stephens, J.M., et al., *Geographic disparities in patient travel for dialysis in the United States*. J Rural Health, 2013. **29**(4): p. 339-48.
- O'Connor, A. and G. Wellenius, *Rural-urban disparities in the prevalence of diabetes and coronary heart disease*. Public Health, 2012. **126**(10): p. 813-20.
- Bureau, U.C., 2010 Census Urban and Rural Classification and Urban Area Criteria, U.C. Bureau, Editor. 2010: Washington, D.C.
- 132. Bureau, U.C., Urban and Rural Population by State. 2000: Washington, D.C.

- 133. Gracia, C.R., et al., *Impact of cancer therapies on ovarian reserve*. Fertil Steril, 2012. 97(1): p. 134-40 e1.
- 134. Letourneau, J.M., et al., Acute ovarian failure underestimates age-specific reproductive impairment for young women undergoing chemotherapy for cancer. Cancer, 2012. 118(7): p. 1933-9.
- 135. Domingo, J., et al., Ovarian response to controlled ovarian hyperstimulation in cancer patients is diminished even before oncological treatment. Fertil Steril, 2012. 97(4): p. 930-4.
- 136. Friedler, S., et al., Ovarian response to stimulation for fertility preservation in women with malignant disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Fertil Steril, 2012. 97(1): p. 125-33.
- Bastings, L., et al., *Referral for fertility preservation counselling in female cancer patients*. Hum Reprod, 2014. **29**(10): p. 2228-37.
- Wilkes, S., et al., *Experience of fertility preservation among younger people diagnosed with cancer*. Hum Fertil (Camb), 2010. 13(3): p. 151-8.
- 139. Jeruss, J.S. and T.K. Woodruff, *Preservation of fertility in patients with cancer*. NEngl J Med, 2009. 360(9): p. 902-11.
- Bastings, L., et al., *Deciding about fertility preservation after specialist counselling*. Hum Reprod, 2014. 29(8): p. 1721-9.

- 141. Jadoul, P. and S.S. Kim, *Fertility considerations in young women with hematological malignancies*. J Assist Reprod Genet, 2012. 29(6): p. 479-87.
- 142. von Wolff, M., et al., *Fertility preservation in women--a practical guide to preservation techniques and therapeutic strategies in breast cancer, Hodgkin's lymphoma and borderline ovarian tumours by the fertility preservation network FertiPROTEKT.* Arch Gynecol Obstet, 2011. **284**(2): p. 427-35.
- 143. von Wolff, M., et al., Ovarian stimulation to cryopreserve fertilized oocytes in cancer patients can be started in the luteal phase. Fertil Steril, 2009. 92(4): p. 1360-5.
- 144. Azim, A.A., M. Costantini-Ferrando, and K. Oktay, *Safety of fertility preservation by ovarian stimulation with letrozole and gonadotropins in patients with breast cancer: a prospective controlled study.* J Clin Oncol, 2008. **26**(16): p. 2630-5.
- 145. *Mature oocyte cryopreservation: a guideline.* Fertil Steril, 2013. **99**(1): p. 37-43.

Funding

HRSA Training Grant - T03MC07651-06 PI: Carol Hogue

NIH Training Grant - T32HD052460

PI: Carey Drews-Botsch

The FUCHSIA Women's Study NIH Grant - 1R01HD066059

PI: Penny Howards